

Electronic Formulary Review Tools for Plan Year 2020 User Manual

Contents

How to use this User Manual	2
What's a Formulary?	3
What's a Formulary ID?	4
Medical Service Drugs	6
What's a J-code?	7
Category & Class Drug Count Review Tool	7
What's a Category and Class?	7
Instructions Tab	10
If you want to run the Drug Count Tool yourself:	11
Output Description Tab	11
Issuer Summary tab	12
Plan Summary Tab	14
Plan Details Tab	15
Category Class Summary Tab	16
The "Benchmark Reevaluation" Column	17
Category Class Details tab	29
All RxCUIs Submitted tab	
Substitute RxCUIs Tab	33
Formulary Review Suite	33
Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool	35
Instructions Tab	36
Output Descriptions Tab	
Issuer Summary Tab	40



Plan Summary Tab	42
Plan Details Tab	43
Clinical Summary Tab	44
Clinical Details Tab	46
All RxCUIs Submitted Tab	51
Errors tab	53
Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Review Tool	53
Instructions Tab	54
Issuer Summary, Plan Summary, and Plan Details Tabs	58
Formulary Outlier Summary Tab	58
Formulary Outlier Details Tab	61
All RxCUIs Submitted and Errors tabs	63
Justifications	63
Unacceptable Justifications	64
Clinically-based disagreements	64
A drug is not on the formulary because it is a medical service drug	65
Acceptable Justifications	65
Background	65
HHS Essential Health Benefits Rx Crosswalk	65
RxNorm	66
What's an RxCUI?	66
A generic version of a drug has become available since October 1, 2018	66
Drugs in this Category and Class Are No Longer Available	69

How to use this User Manual

This User Manual is meant to be used electronically. The Table of Contents, above, has links to each section for easy reference. This Manual is meant to be used as a reference, to find answers to questions you run into as you review Electronic Review Tool results. The user would just click on the topic they need to know about. Another reason this Manual is best used electronically is that you will need to enlarge the screen shots in each section to see all of the details discussed.



You can also use it as a tutorial to learn how to review Electronic Drug Tool results. If you do that, ideally, you should have real versions of the Tool results in front of you as you go through the tutorial, so that you can familiarize yourself with manipulating the Tools to display the information you need. The best way to learn these Tools would be to obtain the plan data so that you can practice running the Tools yourself when you get to those sections, and then use the Tool results you've run to explore those results as they are described.

For this User Guide, we frequently used dummy data in templates so that we could illustrate certain results. Although based upon real templates submitted by real carriers, the templates used for screen shots have, in many cases, been altered for this reason and do not reflect the actual data submitted.

If you want to use a printed copy of the User Manual, you may want to copy the screenshots and paste them into a separate Word document, making them as large as possible.

What's a Formulary?

When we are talking about a formulary, we are talking about the prescription drugs covered under a health plan. Unfortunately, there are two schools of thought about what a "formulary" includes. Sometimes the word "formulary" is used to mean a list of prescription drugs covered by a plan, and nothing else. That is how the Category & Class Drug Count Review Tool uses the word. That tool really only analyzes which drugs are on each Drug List. It does not analyze cost sharing or utilization management criteria (such as a requirement for prior authorization or step therapy).

Alternatively, "formulary" is sometimes used to mean the combination of the list of covered drugs and the particular plan's cost sharing and utilization management criteria for those drugs. This is how the Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Tool and Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool use this word. When you have completed your study of what aspect of the formulary each of the Tools analyzes, this will make more sense.

The Formulary ID in a binder refers to this second definition: the Drug List plus the coverage criteria.

OIC requires that all formularies used by individual and small group plans that have a binder be filed quarterly. These quarterly formularies are filed using the Prescription Drug Formulary Template created by CMS (Rx Drug Template). 1st Quarter formularies have been filed in this way since binders were first introduced in 2014 but, in the past, there was no requirement that subsequent quarterly formularies be filed in any particular format. As a result, the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th quarter formulary filings were not machine-readable and were not very user friendly. The requirement to use the Rx Drug Template allows research using all 4 quarterly formularies, because they are machine-readable, and also aligns with the requirement that the Washington HealthPlanFinder (Washington's Health Benefit Exchange) has instituted for formulary filings.



Finally, it allows carriers to run the Electronic Review Tools on all 4 quarterly formularies, demonstrating that the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th quarter formularies meet the EHB.

What's a Formulary ID?

The details about what prescription drugs a plan covers, and how those drugs are covered, are reflected on the Plans & Benefits Template and the Prescription Drug Formulary Template (RX Drug Template). This information is collectively captured as the "Formulary ID". The Formulary ID begins with the state abbreviation, followed by an "F" (for "Formulary"), then a number to indicate a specific set of cost sharing and utilization management criteria. For example, WAF001, WAF002, WAF003...

Let's look at exactly what information is included in a Formulary ID. Below is a screen shot of the Benefits Package Tab of a carrier's Plans & Benefits Template. It shows three plans. Two of those plans use the same Formulary, which is indicated by the Formulary IDs: these two plans use WAF001. (Green circle.) The third plan uses WAF002.

A B C D E F G H I J K L 2019 Plans 8. Benefits Template V8.1 To use this template, please review the uses quide and instructions. All fields with an asterisk (') are required Image: class of the solution of the sol
Image: Instruction Separation Separ
2 HOS Issuer ID 38498 You will need to aske the latest version of the adsh-file (PlansBenefitsAddin Xizm) on your machine. Image: State WA
3 Issuer State: WA To create the Cost share variance worksheet and enter the cost sharing amounts for both individual and SHOP (small group) markets, use the Create Cost Share Variances macro. In the Create Wa have create Cost Share Variances macro. 5 Dental Only Plan: No To create the Cost share variance worksheet, use the Create Wa have macro. In the Wa have was have was have macro. In the Wa have was have w
4 Market Coverage Individual To create additional Benefits Package worksheets, use the Create New Benefits Package morksheet with your State ENB standards, use the Refeash EFB mero. Access of the Refeash EFB mero. Acces of the Refeash EFB mero. Acces of t
S Dental Only Plan No Topolalet he benefits and he B
6 THM 91-1950223 Plan Marketing Name* Plan Marketing Name* Plan Marketing Name* Plan Marketing Name* Network ID* Service Ares Formulary ID* New/Existing Plan Type* Plan Type* Level of Coverage* Design Type* Unique Plan Type* Design Type* Design Type* Design Type* Unique Plan Type* Design Type* Desig
7 Plan Kdentifiers Vertice Kares Formulary ID NewExisting Plan Type* Level of Coverage* Design Type* Unique Plan besign Type* Unique Plan Type* Level of Coverage* Design Type* Design Type* Design Type* Design Type*
HOS Plan ID: [Standadd Component] Plan Marketing Name HOS Product ID Hey Revire for mulary ID Network ID Service Are ID Formulary ID Network ID Plan Type Level of Coverage Design Type Design Type Design Type Unique Plan Design? Merricitation (MP/ID 9 38498WA032000 LifeWise Essential Gold EPO 100 38498WA032 MAN001 WA5001 WAF001 Eisting EPO Gold Not Applicable No On the On the Design? 1 38498WA0320002 LifeWise Essential Bronze EPO 6350 3498WA032 WAN001 WA5001 WAF002 Evising EPO Silver Not Applicable No On the Design ? 1 38498WA0320002 LifeWise Essential Bronze EPO 6350 3498WA032 WAN001 WA5001 WAF002 Evising EPO Bronze Not Applicable No On the Design ? 1 38498WA0320002 LifeWise Essential Bronze EPO 6350 3498WA032 WAN001 WA5001 WAF002 Evising EPO Bronze Not Applicable No On the Design ?
9 38498WA0320001 LifeWise Essential Gold EPO 1000 38498WA032 WAN001 WAF001 Eisting EPO Gold Not Applicable No On the 10 38498WA0320002 LifeWise Essential Silver EPO 4000 38498WA032 WAN001 WAF001 xisting EPO Silver Not Applicable No On the 11 38498WA0320002 LifeWise Essential Silver EPO 4000 38498WA032 WAN001 WAF001 xisting EPO Bronze Not Applicable No On the 12 2
10 38498WA0320002 LIfeWise Essential Silver EPO 4000 38498WA032 WAN001 WA5001 Visting EPO Silver Not Applicable No On the 11 38498WA0320002 LIfeWise Essential Silver EPO 4000 38498WA032 WAN001 WA5001 WAF002 Existing EPO Bronze Not Applicable No On the 11 38498WA0320003 LifeWise Essential Bronze EPO 6350 38498WA032 WAN001 WAF002 Existing EPO Bronze Not Applicable No On the 12 13
11 38498WA0320003 LifeWise Essential Bronze EPO 6350 38498WA032 WAN001 WAF002 Existing EPO Bronze Not Applicable No On the 12
14 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
15
17
18
19
20
21
22
59 Benefit information General Information Out of Pocket Exceptions
Benefits EHB Benefit Limit on Limit outify Limit Unit Exclusions Benefit EHB Variance Excluded from In Excluded from In Excluded from In Excluded from In Course of the work 60 Covered? Service Covered? Service NoOP MOOP
1 Prime Canada State Visite Trans as Islands - Visite - V

The first two plans use the same formulary, which means that coverage of prescription drugs is identical for these two plans. The third plan uses a different formulary (different Formulary ID), which means that this plan covers prescription drugs differently from the other two plans. To determine how each plan covers prescription drugs, we look at the Rx Drug Template.

The Rx Drug Template includes all the information about each Formulary ID. This template is made up of two tabs. Take a look at the screen shot below. The "Formulary Tiers" tab (red arrow) shows the information by Formulary ID (green circle). This information includes the Drug List associated with each Formulary ID (purple circle), and how those drugs are tiered (blue



circle). It also includes the cost sharing information and where the enrollee can obtain covered prescription drugs (in network, out of network, retail pharmacy, mail order). This information is located in columns G through Q. (Columns are lettered at the top of the spreadsheet – see pink highlighted row.)



Going back to our example, we see that the first plan on the PBT above uses Formulary ID WAF001 (green circle in screen shot on Pg. 4). The Formulary Tiers tab of the RX Drug Template (screen shot above) tells us a lot about the Formulary IDs. For example, we can see that Formulary ID WAF001 uses Drug List 1 (purple circle), covered drugs are separated into 4 tiers (blue circle), each tier has a different coinsurance (yellow circle), and there is no coverage for drugs purchased from out of network pharmacies (red circle).

Now click on the "Drug Lists" tab of the Rx Drug Template (purple arrow in screen shot below). The Drug Lists tab shows the rest of the information about the Formulary IDs (screen shot below). It lists the exact drugs covered. (The drugs are identified by RxCUI number. For a definition of RxCUI, <u>click here</u>.). For each drug, the tab shows the tier upon which the drug is placed, and whether coverage of the drug requires preauthorization or step therapy. ("Step therapy" means a requirement that a less expensive drug be prescribed first, and only if that drug does not work will a more expensive drug be covered for that condition.) In the screen shot below, we see that most drugs on Drug List 1 have neither of these criteria. But you can see that some of the drugs do have one or both of these criteria.

For example, the screen shot below shows that drug 206831 is on tier 4, and requires neither prior authorization nor step therapy (red circle). We know this because the drug list says "4" in the "Tier Level" column, and "No" in both the "Prior Authorization Required" and "Step Therapy Required" columns. Drug 206977 is on tier 1, and requires prior authorization, but not step



therapy (yellow circle). Drug 207052 is on tier 2, and requires both prior authorization and step therapy (green circle).

A	L	f_x Drug Lists		
	А	В	с	D
1	Drug Lists	All fields with an asterisk	(*) are required. To valida	ate the template, press the
2		Click the Create Formula	ry IDs button (or Ctrl + Sh	ift + C) to create Formular
3		After creating Formulary	IDs_select the ID from the	drop down in Column A a
4	Add Drug List	Select how many tiers a t	formulany usos from Numb	or of Tiors and unused rou
-	Remove Drug List	Enter all DVCIIIe on the I	Onnulary uses nonn Nullio Dava Lista shaat. Ta add r	er or Tiers and unused low
5		Enter all RACOIS on the L	Drug Lists sneet. To add n	nore arug lists, click Ada L
6			Drug List D T	Ston Thorany
7	RXCUI*	Tier Level*	Required	Required
		Required:	Required if Tier Level is	Required if Tier Level is
	Required:	Select the Tier this drug is in,	not NA:	not NA:
8	Enter the RXCUI	or select NA if this drug is not	Select "Yes" If Prior Authorization is Required	select "Yes" if Step Therapy
693	206739	1	No	No
694	206750	1	No	No
695	206791	1	No	No
696	206792	1	No	No
697	206831	4	No	No
698	206842	1	ivo	No
699	206860	1	No	No
700	206905	1	No	No
701	206913	1	No	No
702	206917		ino	No
703	206977	1	Yes	No
704	206986	4	No	INO .
705	206987	4	No	No
706	206994	1	No	No
707	206997	1	No	No
708	207029	2	No	No
709	207035	2	NO Var	No
711	207052	2	165	No
712	207039	1	No	No
712	207100	1	No	No
714	207100	1	No	Yes
715	207166	1	No	No
716	207167	1	No	No
717	207169	1	No	No
718	207170	1	No	No
719	207171	1	No	No
720	207172	1	No	No
	 ↔ Formulary Tie 	rs Drug Lists (+	

All of the above information, collectively, is represented by a particular Formulary ID. So you can see that a Formulary ID is a shorthand way of saying a LOT. In fact, it tells us more than we've discussed here – you'll learn more as we learn about RxCUIs and Categories and Classes of drugs.

Medical Service Drugs

"Medical service drugs" are drugs that must be administered in a clinical setting, such as certain IV chemotherapy and hemophilia drugs.



A carrier reports which medical service drugs are included in its formulary (or formularies) by listing the covered medical service drugs by RxCUI in its Rx Drug Template. (The Rx Drug Template requires that drugs be identified by RxCUI, and will not validate if they are not.) However, some medical service drugs do not have RxCUIs and therefore cannot be included in the Rx Drug Template. The carrier must attach a list of those covered medical service drugs that do not have RxCUIs on the Supporting Documentation tab in its binder(s), and identify these drugs by "J-code". The lists are provided in a separate Excel template attached on the Supporting Documentation tab in the binder.

What's a J-code?

A J-code is a number that identifies a particular medical service drug and dosage. Clinical providers use the J-codes to bill for medical service drugs administered to their patients. All carriers have access to the list of J-codes. Therefore, when a particular medical service drug doesn't have an RxCUI, carriers can report to OIC that they cover that drug by listing it by its J-code.

J-codes are not assigned for ordinary drugs that can be administered at home. Those drugs are identified by their RxCUIs. So J-codes and RxCUIs serve the same purpose, but for different groups of drugs. J-codes are generally identifiers for medical service drugs and RxCUIs are generally identifiers for all other drugs.

Category & Class Drug Count Review Tool

Under the Affordable Care Act (ACA), all non-grandfathered individual and small group health plans must cover prescription drugs. In ACA language, prescription drug coverage is an Essential Health Benefit (EHB). In order to meet this requirement, each non-grandfathered individual and small group plan must cover prescription drugs "in a manner substantially equal to the base-benchmark plan."

The Category & Class Drug Count Review Tool ("Drug Count Tool") is an electronic Tool that analyzes two binder templates - the Plans & Benefits Template, in combination with the Prescription Drug Formulary Template ("Rx Drug Template") – to determine whether the plan formularies reviewed meet this ACA requirement.

What's a Category and Class?

In order to provide the prescription drug EHB, plans must cover prescription drugs "in a manner substantially equal to the base-benchmark plan." This requirement is easy to say. But what, exactly, does it mean? The United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) was tasked with defining it. They determined that "substantially equal" does not mean that each plan must cover the exact same drugs as the benchmark plan. The requirement is looser than that. It means, in essence, that each plan's drug coverage must be at least as comprehensive as the benchmark plan coverage.



HHS then had to figure out a way to measure that.

They started with the United States Pharmacopeia (USP), which separates drugs into groups of similar drugs called Categories and Classes, based upon the properties of the drugs. HHS then adopted the standard that, in order to provide the prescription drug EHB, each plan must cover as many drugs in each USP Category and Class as the benchmark plan covers.

That is what the Drug Count Tool measures.

It is important to pay attention to the USP Category Class designations (the names), not the numbers assigned to each Category and Class in the Tools. The Category and Class names have meaning, but the numbers assigned to them in the Tools are completely arbitrary numbers assigned by HHS based on where the name of the Category Class falls in the alphabet on that particular Tool. HHS made them up. You should know this simply because the Category Classes have *different numbers* in each of the Tools, which could be confusing.

For example, in the Drug Count Tool, the Category Class "blood glucose regulators; antidiabetic agents" is given Category Class ID 80. But in the Formulary Review Suite, which looks at far fewer Category Classes, that same group of drugs is given Category Class ID 23. But it's still the same group of drugs. Just pay attention to the name of the Category Class, not the number, and you won't get confused.

A "Category" is just that – a group of drugs that have a particular function, such as cardiovascular agents or genitourinary agents. Within each Category, there can be multiple Classes of drugs. A Class is a group of drugs that performs their function by affecting the body in a particular way. So a Category is the larger group, and a Class is a subgroup of the Category. Each combination of Category and Class is called a "Category Class", and has a different "Category Class ID".

Here's an example. The Category "Analgesics" (pain relievers) has 4 Classes. These are:

nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

opioid analgesics, long-acting

opioid analgesics, short acting; and

local anesthetics.

Each of these is a separate Category Class. The Drug Count Tool counts drugs at the Category Class level, which is why each Category Class has its own Category Class ID.

The Drug Count Tool happens to give these pain relievers Category Class IDs 1, 2, 3, and 4. Each of these Category Classes relieves pain by affecting the body in a particular way.

Category Class 1 is called "Analgesics; nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs".

Category Class 2 is called "Analgesics; opioid analgesics, long-acting".



Category Class 3 is called "Analgesics; opioid analgesics, short-acting".

Category Class 4 is called "Analgesics, local anesthetics".

Be aware: one drug can be in multiple Category Classes, because drugs can have more than one effect on the body. To use a well-known example, aspirin is both a pain reliever and a blood thinner. So aspirin could be counted to satisfy both an EHB for pain relievers and an EHB for blood thinners. Lots of drugs are like that.

The Drug Count Tool counts the number of covered drugs in each Category Class, to determine whether the formularies being reviewed meet the benchmark. The information in the Formulary IDs is not analyzed by the Drug Count Tool. The only reason this tool requires the Formulary ID information is so that it can identify the results down to the plan level. As a result, you will see that every plan that uses the same drug list will have the same Drug Count Tool result, regardless of Formulary ID.

The results are presented in an Excel spreadsheet, with several tabs. (Indicated with purple arrows in the screen shot below.) When the Tool results show that a formulary does not meet the benchmark for a Category Class, the carrier must submit a justification as to why the formulary can be approved despite this result. OIC has state-specific Justification Forms for each Tool.

In the past, OIC required only the Category Class Summary tab to be submitted with the binder, along with any justifications needed. However, it is very helpful to understand what information is presented on each of the tabs, because this information can be used to assess a carrier's justification for not meeting the benchmark in a particular Category Class. The information can also help the OIC's Health Forms Compliance Analyst to give carriers guidance about how to resolve a particular failed result. For that reason, OIC now requires carriers to submit the entire Excel workbook of the Tool results.

The OIC Analyst's responsibility is to review the Tool results. If the results show a formulary has not met one or more Category Class, the Analyst is responsible for reviewing the justifications for each Category Class not met, and determining whether they are acceptable. Analysis of justifications will be addressed below, following a description of each tab in the results.



Instructions Tab



Above is a screenshot of the Instructions tab. This tab is used by the person running the Tool to input the data to be analyzed.

Note that the data that must be input includes information about whether the RX Drug Templates include separate individual and small group templates, and the state in which the plans are to be sold. (Blue arrows). If the data includes separate individual and small group RX Drug Templates, the Tool will display the results for each separately. (See "Category Class Summary" tab, below.) The state must be specified so that the Tool compares the formulary(ies) to the correct benchmark formulary. (Each state's benchmark formulary is different, and each state's benchmark formulary data is pre-loaded into the tool.) OIC does not use the "Would you like to export the Drug Count Tool results" box. (Green arrow.)

When the person running the Tool clicks on these boxes, a dropdown menu of choices appears. These boxes must be completed or the Tool will not run (a warning appears, reminding the user to input the data).

OIC requires the Plans and Benefits data to be imported into the Drug Count Tool from the Master Review Tool. (Red arrow.) This allows the Drug Count Tool to display results for each



plan, and also to remove any unused drug lists from the result. Because the Drug Count Tool only analyzes the drug lists, every plan that uses the same drug list will have the same result. Thus, data at the plan level really isn't necessary. But it is helpful to have unused drug lists removed so we don't bother with results that don't matter.

To load the data from the Master Review Tool, the user clicks on this green button (red arrow in screen shot above), and a dialog box opens asking the user to click on the folder containing the Master Review Tool data. The Tool then imports that data.

When the user clicks on the "Run Category & Class Drug Count Review Tool" button, a dialog box opens asking the user to click on the folder containing the RX Drug Template(s). A status bar then opens while the Tool runs. The Tool takes approximately 30 seconds to run on one carrier's formulary(ies), and approximately a minute and a half to run marketwide.

If you want to run the Drug Count Tool yourself:

To run the Drug Count Tool, you would need to have the Master Review Tool data saved on your computer somewhere.

You can run the Master Review Tool yourself using the data on a carrier's binder. How to do that is a different lesson.

In addition to the Master Review Tool data, you will also need a folder with the carrier's RX Drug Template(s) stored in it.

If you load all the information, the tool will analyze all of a carrier's formularies, for both its Individual and Small Group plans, at the same time. In order to separate the results, however, the user must save the carrier's Plans & Benefits Templates and Rx Drug Templates using specific naming conventions so that the tool recognizes them as either Individual or Small Group. (See Instruction 1 on the Instructions tab of the Drug Count Tool.)

Output Description Tab

The Output description tab is just that: a description of what the Tool does, and what information is located on each tab. It also contains some information about what various results mean. This tab is a resource for the user and the Analyst to understand what the results mean and can be helpful in troubleshooting issues. Below is a screenshot of this tab.



A 3		Ŧ	: ×	<	f_x																
- A	в		с		D		E	F		G		н	П								
2				Descri	ption of	the Cate	gory & Cl	ass Drug	Count	Review											
3	1.	The output for each drug list that was reviewed is located on the 'Category Class Summary' and 'Category Class Details' worksheets thin the workbook. Each drug list that has been reviewed will be identified according to the issuer (D, issuer state, market coverage (if applicable), and drug list. ID note for set the individual results for each issuer (D and drug list (D) use the collapse and expand buttons located directly underne the formula bar on either worksheet.								eath											
	2.	2. The 'Issuer Summary' worksheet provides issuer level summary data. This sheet displays the executive summary review results for each formula That the tool processes and identifies the formulary IDs that do not pass the review.						alary													
	3.	The 'PI produce	an Summ	ary' worksh itive summa	ieet will popu ary review res	late when Plans ults for each pla	& Benefits (P&E n the tool reviev	B) data from a l #s and identifie	Master Review s the standard	w Tool (MRT) d component IE	has been imp Ds that do no	orted. This she t pass the revie	ieet iew.								
5	4.	The 'PI requirer deficien specific taken to	an Detail: nents of the cy produce ally did not o correct an	s' workshee review. The d. This work meet the rec identified er	t vill populat Plan Detail sheet identifi quirements fo rror.	e when P&B dat s' worksheet pro es the standard or. A deficiency n	i from a MRT h duces the detai component IDs tessage is also	as been impor iled review resu that do not pa provided to re	ted AND if any ilts for each pl ss the review a viewers seekir	y plan reviewed lan the tool revi and the catego ng additional de	does not me viewed and ear ory and class t etails on actic	eet the ch individual the plan ons that can be	•								
6		New fo	or 2020: T	he 'Deficier	cy Finder' co	lumn has been a	dded to the wor	rksheet which a	allows the user	r to immediatel	ly locate the i	dentified									
		The 'Ca classes benchrr describ	ategory C with a drug ark count o ed below:	lass Sum count that o r the Re-Ev	nary' works to not meet t aluated benc	heet outputs the he EHB benchm hmark count. Th	drug counts fo ark count. A ca e definitions fo	r all categories itegory and clas r the values the	and classes." ss row will be b at each row car	This workshee bold with red fo in take in the «N	et identifies th ont if it does n Met? (Yes/No	e categories ar ot meet the EH o)" column are	nd HB								
		• Ye	s: The drug	count meet:	s the state El	-IB benchmark c	ount. No furthe	r review is requ	ired.												
	5.	• Ye fur	s – Reevalu ther review	ated: The dr s required."	ug count me	ets the Reevalu	ited benchmark	. count, but it de	pes not meet t	the state EHB	benchmark o	ount. No									
		• No	. The drug o	ount does r	not meet the	state EHB bencl	mark count. A	further review i	is required.												
7		* Note: i availabi drug list	In several si e chemicall is not requ	tuations, it r y distinct dru red.	nay be impos Jgs in the EH	ssible for a partic B RX Crosswalk	ular category ar . has decreased	nd class to me I for that catego	et the EHB bei ory and class. I	nchmark coun In those situati	nt because the iions, a further	e number of r review of the									
8	6.	The 'Ca listed by font if it categor	ategory C the catego is missing I ies and clas	lass Deta ries and cla rom the dru ses that we	ils' workshe sses that the g list being re re insufficien	et provides a list y affect. This wo viewed. This hel t.	of every chemi rksheet identifie ps identify when	cally distinct dr Is if a drug is m e RXCUIs can t	ug that appear issing from a be added to m	rs in the EHB F drug list. A drug leet the EHB B	RX Crosswalk Ig row will be b Senchmark Co	C. The drugs are be bold with red ounts for the ounts for the counts for counts for count	e İ								
		The 'Al includes identifie	I RXCUIS Fall RXCUIS Is whether c	Submitte submitted, r not the dru	d' worksheet regardless if ug is covered	provides an ove they are a part o , the tier the drug	rview of all RX0 f the Category 8 j is on, and the r	CUIs included o & Class Drug C estriction statu	on all prescripti Count Review. I us of each drug	tion drug templ For each issue g.	lates reviewed er and drug lis	d by the tool. Th It, this work she	his ret								
	7.	• FX appeari the EHE	CUIs may b in any sourc 3 RX Cross	e retired wh e vocabulai walk are co	en (1) two are ry or (3) they unted toward	found to be syn were created as s the drug count	onymous and so the result of an by mapping the	o are merged, r acknowledged m to their reas:	etiring one pre lerror in a sou signed RXCUI	eviously release irce vocabulary I values.	ed RXCUI; (2) y. Retired RXC) they no longer CUIs that exist i	e in								
		• Ar	eassigned F	RXCUI is the	RXCUI that	takes the place (of the retired RX	CUI.													
		Note: T Summ	he numbers ary"tab. Ti	in the Cate iese numbe	gory Class in rs represent	npact column of the categories a	this tab referen nd classes that	ces the Catego a particular RX	ory Class ID th CUI affects.	nat can be foun	nd in the 'Cate	egory Class	•								
10	8	New fo drugs th	or 2020: T hat are not c	ne ' Substit overed in o	ute RXCU	ls' worksheet wi I classes where i	l populate when he benchmark i	the tool is run requirement wa	, identifying an is not met for	ny RXCUIs whic a given input dr	ch contain che Irug list.	emically distinc	ct								
11 12													_								
13	Þ		Instructi	ons	Output I	Description	Issuer	Summary	Plan	Summary	Plan	Details	Cat	egory (lass Sum	nmary	Categon	v Class Detaile	RXCUIs Submitter	4	Substitute RXCLUS
					- aspect	- asen peron	- issuer	s annual y	- mains	Samuly	1 1 101	o cruito	Cat	-90170			cutegory	, class octain	orcors submitter	• I	Substitute roteols

Issuer Summary tab

The results are shown on the Issuer Summary tab at the product level (shows a result for each product).

Look at the screen shot below. In the green column furthest to the left, the carrier is identified by its HIOS Issuer ID ("Issuer ID" column). We ran this Tool on one carrier's formularies in one market (the Individual market). You can also run the Tool on multiple carriers' formularies and on both Individual and Small Group plans at the same time.



Issu	erSu 🔻	: 🗙 🗸	f_x Issue	er		
A	В	D	E			G
		\sim	Executive		1 Issuer Failed	
2	Income Dista	E	Summary:	Catalan	- H Class Dava Cau	- Deview
3	Issuer Data	Formulary	Data	Catego	ry & Class Drug Cou	nt Review
4	ID V	ID 🖵	List ID 🗐	0	Category & Class Re	sult 🖵
5	69364	WAF001	1		Not Met	
6	69364	WAF002	1		Not Met	
7	69364	WAF003	1		Not Met	
8	69364	WAF004	1		Not Met	
9	69364	WAF005	1		Not Met	
10	69364	VVAF006	2		Not Met	
11	69364	WAF007	2		Not Met	
12	69364	WAF000	2		Not Met	
14	69364	WAF010	2		Not Met	
15	00004		2		Not Mict	
16						
17						
18						
19						
20						
21						
22						
23						
24						
25						
26						
27						
28						
29						
30						
31						
32						
33						
36						
36						
37						
38						
39						
40						
41						
42						
43						
44						
45						
4	Þ	Instructions	Output Descr	ription	Issuer Summary	Plan Summary

Note the "Executive Summary" field at top right. (Red circle.) This field gives you a quick indication of whether any drug lists failed the Tool. When you run the Tool on only one carrier's formulary(ies), you will always see either a 1 or a 0 in this field, because either the carrier had one or more drug lists that failed to meet the benchmark, or it did not.

The next two columns, in purple, show the ID of the formulary analyzed ("Formulary ID" column) and the number of the drug list analyzed ("Drug List ID" column). As you can see, this carrier uses 2 drug lists.

The orange column shows the Category & Class result for each Formulary ID analyzed. So this tab tells you, at a glance, whether each Formulary ID met the benchmark, including which drug list it uses.

Issuers tend to have few drug lists. Remember what this particular Tool does; it reviews drug lists by counting the drugs in each Category Class. So each drug list will have the same result regardless of how many Formulary IDs and plans it is used with. In other words, you see in the



screen shot above that every formulary ID that uses drug list 1 has the same result. The same is true for every formulary ID that uses drug list 2.

The Issuer Summary tab shows a high-level result. However, if the result showed in the "Executive Summary" field at the top that no formularies failed to meet the benchmark, you would not need any further information. Sometimes we speak in terms of a formulary "passing" or "failing" the Tool. That is simply another way to describe whether the Tool showed that the formulary met the benchmark (passed), or did not meet the benchmark (failed).

If any formularies failed to meet the benchmark, then you need more information. That is where the rest of the tabs come in.

Plan Summary Tab

The Plan Summary tab is the next level of detail after the Issuer Summary tab. This tab shows the results at the plan level (shows a result for each plan). The reason OIC requires carriers to import the information for this tool from the Master Review Tool is so that this plan-level information can be displayed.

Sample plan summary results are shown below. You will see that this tab contains the same information as the Issuer Summary tab, but broken down by each plan, rather than just each product.

A B D E F G H I 2 Image: Second Sec	
Executive Summary: 5 Plans Failed Summary: Source Date Category & Class Drug Count Revier Category & Class Drug Count Revier Result 6 69364 69364WA122000 Silver HSA 2500 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver VWAF002 1 Not Met 6 69364 69364WA122000 Bronze ESsential 7150 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 10 1 Not Met 1 Not Met 1 Not Met 9 69364 69364WA1220004 Bronze Essential 7150 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 16 13 14 15 16 16 16 16 13 14 15 16 16 16 16	J K L
Issuer Plan Plan Marketing Name Metal Formulary Drug Category & Class 6 69364 69364WA1220007 Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network Gold WAF001 1 Nxt Met 6 69364 69364WA1220008 Silver VSA 2000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Nxt Met 7 69364 69364WA1220006 Silver VSA 2000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Nxt Met 8 69364 69364WA1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Nxt Met 8 69364 69364WA1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF003 1 Nxt Met 9 63364 69364WA1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 10 1 1 1 Not Met Not Met Not Met Not Met 11 1 1 1 Not Met Not Met	
Issuer Plan Plan Marketing Name Metal Formulary Drug Category & Class 5 69364 69364WA1220007 Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network Gold WAF001 1 Net Met 6 69364 69364WA1220008 Silver 73000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Net Met 7 69364 69364WA1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF003 1 Net Met 8 69364WA1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF003 1 Net Met 10 63364 69364WA1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Net Met 10 63364 69364WA1220004 Bronze Essential 7150 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 11 1 1 1 Not Met 1 Not Met 1 Not Met 12 1 1 1 Not Met 1 <td< td=""><td>v</td></td<>	v
6 69364 69364WA1220007 Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network Gold 1 Not Met 6 69364 69364WA1220008 Silver 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Not Met 7 69364 69364WA1220006 Bironze 100 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Not Met 6 69364 69364WA1220006 Bironze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF003 1 Not Met 6 69364 69364WA1220006 Bironze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bironze WAF003 1 Not Met 10 69364 69364WA1220004 Bironze Essential 7150 EPO Individual and Family Network Bironze WAF005 1 Not Met 11 12 1 1 1 1 1 Not Met 13 14 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 <	*
6 63954 639364/WA1220008 Silver 2000 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF002 1 Not Met 7 69364 69364WA1220005 Silver 188A 2500 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF003 1 Not Met 8 69364 69364WA1220005 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF003 1 Not Met 9 69364 69364WA1220004 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF003 1 Not Met 10 1 Bronze Essential 7150 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 11 12 1 Not Met 1 Not Met 1 1 Not Met 13 14 1	
7 69364 69364WX1220005 Silver HSA 2500 EPO Individual and Family Network Silver WAF003 1 Not Met 6 69364 69364WX1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF004 1 Not Met 9 69364 69364WX1220006 Bronze HSA 5000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 10 1 Not Met Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 11 1 1 Not Met Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 12 13 1 </td <td></td>	
6 9364 69364WX1220005 Bronze HSA \$000 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF004 1 Not Met 10 69364 69364WX1220004 Bronze Essential 7150 EPO Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 11 12 13 14 15 16 16 17 18 19 10	
bitsbell bitsbell Bronze Essential // Tob EPU Individual and Family Network Bronze WAF005 1 Not Met 10 11	
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 19	
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 45 56 57 57 58 59 99 90 91 92 93 94 94 94 94 95 96 97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99	
Instructions Output Description Issuer Summary Plan Details Category Class Summary Category Class Details	All RXCUIs Submitted



Plan Details Tab

The Plan Details tab contains the same information as the Issuer Summary and Plan Summary tabs, plus additional detailed information about each "not met" result, and what to do about it.

This tab will only populate when the Plans & Benefits data has been imported into this Tool from a Master Review Tool, AND when one or more plans uses a drug list that does not meet the benchmark. That's because it displays information at the plan level, which requires data from the Master Review Tool, and because it only displays information about "not met" results.

This tab identifies plan(s) that use a drug list that does not meet the benchmark (green columns), and which Formulary ID(s) and drug list(s) are used by those plans (purple columns). The next column to the right (first blue column) identifies the specific Category Class(es) in which the Tool found deficiencies. To the right of that column (second blue column) is the number of covered drugs in that Category Class, followed by the benchmark count that needs to be met (for example, 9 out of 10). The next blue column to the right on the Plan Details tab provides detailed information about exactly what the deficiency is, and how the carrier can remedy it. Finally, the far right column is a link to the exact result. Clicking on this link will take you to the next tab, where the specific failed result will be shown in a black box. This tab is quite helpful in that it provides detailed identification of a failed result, explains the result, and provides a message stating what a carrier needs to do to make the drug list meet the benchmark.

M9		- 1 2	< 🗸 fx	Find Deficiency							
A	в	с	E	F	G	н	1	J	к	L	М
2							Deficiency Results:		Cat	tegory & Class Deficiencies: 60	
3			Issue	er Data		Formula	ry Data			Detailed Deficiency Results	
4	State 🚽	Issuer ID 7	Standard Component IE	Plan Marketing Name	Metal Level	Formulary ID	Drug List ID	Category; Class 🖵	Drug Count & Benchmark	Deficiency Message 🚽	Deficiency Finder 🚽
5	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network	Gold	WAF001	1	Antibacterials category; Macrolides class (ID: 14)	4 out of 5	The submitted plan does not cover a sufficient number of chemically distinct drugs in the Antibacterisis category. Macrolides class. An issuer must cover at least the greater of (a) one drug or (b) the same number of prescription drugs as the EHB benchmark (5) plan to be considered compliant. Please modify the drug list associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit a nappropriate sulfication.	t Find Deficiency
6	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network	Gold	WAF001	1	Antiemetics category; Antiemetics, Other class (ID: 30)	9 out of 10	The submitted plan does not cover a sufficient number of chemically distinct drugs in the Antiemetics category; Antiemetics, Other class. An issuer must cover at least the greater of (a) one drug or (b) the same number of prescription drugs as the EHB benchmark (10) plan to be considered compliant. Please modify the drug list associated with this plan to meet or exceed this canuitament or submit as associated	t
7	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network	Gold	WAF001	1	Antiemetics category; Emetogenic Therapy Adjuncts class (ID: 31)	5 out of 6	The submitted plan does not cover a sufficient number of chemically distinct drugs in the Antienetics category; Emetogenic Therapy Adjuncts class. An issuer mast cover at least the greater of (a) one drug or (b) the same number of prescription drugs as the EHB benchmark (6) plan to be considered compliant. Please mod/by that drug list associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit an aperopriate	t Find Deficiency
8	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network	Gold	WAF001	1	Antineoplastics category; Enzyme Inhibitors class (ID: 49)	1 out of 3	The submitted plan does not cover a sufficient number of chemically distinct drugs in the Antimeoplastics category. Enzyme hinkbors class, an sister music cover at least the greater of (a) one drug or (b) the same number of prescription drugs as the EHB benchmark (3) plan to be considered compliant. Plases modify the drug list associated with this plan to meet or acceed this cenuimement or submit an appropriate	find Deficiency
9	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Individual and Family Network	Gold	WAF001	1	Antheoplastics category; Monocional Antbody/Antibiody-Drug Conjugate class (ID: 51)	0 out of 1	The submitted plan does not cover a sufficient number of chemically distinct drugs in the Antineoplastics category, Monocional Antibody/Antibody-Orug Conjugate class. An issuer must cover at least the greater of (a) one drug or (b) the same number of prescription drugs as the EHB benchmark (1) plan to be considered compliant. Please modify the drug is associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit a naorocrafts ustification.	t
	Þ	Instruc	tions Output [Description Issuer S	ummary Plan	n Summary	Plan Details	Category Class Summa	ary Catego	ry Class Details All RXCUIs Submit	ted Substitute RXCUIs



One important "heads up" about this tab. **It may not show all the deficiencies in a drug list.** This tab will not show when a drug list does not meet the Washington State Benchmark, but instead meets only the "Benchmark Reevaluation". <u>As explained below</u>, the "Benchmark Reevaluation" is not always a meaningful number. Therefore, although the Tool treats a "Yes – Reevaluated" result as passing the test, the OIC does not.

That means that each "Yes – Reevaluated" result on the next tab will need to be corrected. Unfortunately, however, this Plan Details tab will not flag these results or provide you with information about how to resolve them.

Category Class Summary Tab

This tab is packed with information. It looks like this:

5	Ψ.	$f_x \checkmark f_x \checkmark f_x$								
A 1	в	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	к
					Category Class	2 Lists Not Met	12 Category C	lasses Not Met	142 Category C	asses Not Met
Cate	egory ss ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)
	1	Analgesics	Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs	20	21		21	Yes	3	No
	2	Analoesics	Opioid Analoesics, Long-acting	11	11		11	Yes	3	No
	3	Analgesics	Opioid Analogsics, Short-acting	12	15		17	Yes	9	No
	4	Anesthetics	Local Anesthetics	3	2		3	Yes	8	Yes
	5	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Alcohol Deterrents/Anti-craving	3	3		3	Yes	1	No
	6	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Dependence Treatments	2	4		4	Yes	3	Yes
	7	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Reversal Agents	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
	8	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Smoking Cessation Agents	3	3		3	100	0	No
	9	Antibacterials	Aminoglycosides	5	2		3	Yes - Reevaluated	4	Yes - Reevaluated
1	10	Antibacterials	Antibacterials, Other		10		14	Deevoluated	16	Yes - Reevaluated
1	11	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Cephalosporins	10	10		10	Yes	11	Yes
1	12	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Other	2	1		1	Yes - Reevaluated	7	Yes
1	13	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Penicillins	5	5		5	Yes	6	Yes
1	14	Antibacterials	Macrolides	5	5		4	No	2	No
1	15	Antibacterials	Quinolones	10	5		5	Yes - Reevaluated	4	No
1	16	Antibacterials	Sulfonamides	5	2		2	Yes - Reevaluated	1	No
1	17	Antibacterials	Tetracyclines	4	4		4	Yes	2	No
1	18	Anticonvulsants	Anticonvulsants, Other	4	3		4	Yes	2	No
1	19	Anticonvulsants	Calcium Channel Modifying Agents	4	4		4	Yes	0	No
2	20	Anticonvulsants	Gamma-aminobutyric Acid (GABA) Augmenting Agents	4	7		6	Yes	3	No
2	21	Anticonvulsants	Glutamate Reducing Agents	3	3		3	Yes	0	No
2	22	Anticonvulsants	Sodium Channel Agents	7	7		7	Yes	3	No
2	23	Antidementia Agents	Antidementia Agents, Other	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
2	24	Antidementia Agents	Cholinesterase Inhibitors	3	3		3	Yes	0	No
2	25	Antidementia Agents	N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) Receptor	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
2	26	Antidepressants	Antidepressants, Other	8	8		8	Yes	0	No
2	27	Antidepressants	Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors	4	4		4	Yes	0	No
2	28	Antidepressants	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Norepinephrine Reuntake Inhibitors)	11	11		11	Yes	0	No
2	29	Antidepressants	Tricyclics	9	9		9	Yes	0	No
3	30	Antiemetics	Antiemetics Other	10	10		9	No	9	No
3	31	Antiemetics	Emetogenic Therapy Adjuncts	6	6		5	No	5	No
	32	Antifungals	No USP Class	21	21		23	Yes	9	No
3	33	Antigout Agents	No USP Class	6	6		7	Yes	0	No
	34	Anti-inflammatory Agents	Glucocorticoids	26	6		7	Yes - Reevaluated	3	No
	35	Anti-inflammatory Agents	Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs	20	21		21	Yes	3	No
	36	Antimioraine Agents	Eront Alkaloids	2	1		2	Yes	0	No
	37	Antimigraine Agents	Pronhylactic	3	4		4	Yes	1	No
	38	Antimigraine Agents	Serotonin (5-HT) 1b/1d Recentor Aponiete	7	7		7	Yes		No
	39	Antimyasthenic Agents	Parasympathomimetics	3	2		2	Yes - Reevaluated	0	No
	40	Antimycobacterials	Antimycobacterials Other	2	2		2	Yes	0	No
		Instructions Output Descri	ption Issuer Summary Plan Summar	y Plan Deta	ils Category	Class Summary	Category Class	Details All R	XCUIs Submitted	Substitute R

In the blue columns on the far left, the tab lists each Category Class of drugs. Note that you can sort this list by each of the columns. The default is for the list to be sorted by Category Class ID. But you can also sort by "List X Met" so that you have all the failed Category Classes together, allowing you to ignore the ones that are met.

The next column, the purple column, is called "Benchmark Count". This column shows how many drugs in that particular Category Class are covered by the state's benchmark plan. The plan being analyzed must cover at least that many drugs in that Category Class. If it does not,



then the plan's coverage of drugs is not as comprehensive as the benchmark formulary's coverage of drugs in that Category Class. As a result, the plan does not satisfy the prescription drug EHB.

Why would the Benchmark Count in a Category Class be zero?

Take a look at the yellow highlighted row in the screen shot below.

G1	25 *	$X \swarrow f_x$								
1									•	•
- A A	B	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	к
3					Category Class Result:	2 Lists Not Met	12 Category Cl	asses Not Met	142 Category Cla	isses Not Met
4	Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)
137	133	Hormonal Agents, Stimulant/ Replacement/ Modifying (Sex Hormones/ Modifiers)	Estrogens	8	15		15	Yes	1	No
138	134	Hormonal Agents, Stimulant/ Replacement/ Modifying (Sex Hormones/ Modifiers)	Progesterone Agonists/ Antagonists		1		1	Yes	0	No
139	135	Hormonal Agents, Stimulant/ Replacement/ Modifying (Sex Hormones/ Modifiers)	Progestins	7	15		18	Yes	4	No

Note that the Benchmark Count for Hormonal Agents, Stimulant/Replacement/Modifying (Sex hormones/ Modifiers) is zero (red circle). That means that this Category Class did not exist in 2014.

There are drugs available in this Category Class for Plan Year 2020 and, in fact, the benchmark plan's formulary covered one of them in 2014. (More on how this result tells us that in the next section.) But because the Category Class did not exist in 2014, no drugs were counted toward it, so the Benchmark Count is zero.

The "Benchmark Reevaluation" Column

The next column to the right is the "Benchmark Reevaluation" column (second purple column). This column requires a bit of explanation.

Remember that the numbers in the Benchmark Count column are the number of drugs that were covered in each Category Class on the state's benchmark plan. Remember also that the current benchmark plans are from Plan Year 2014. Many drugs have come onto, and gone off of, the market since the Plan Year 2014 benchmark formulary was filed.

The Drug Count Tool needs to have a database of all drugs available to satisfy the prescription drug EHB benchmark, in order to provide the information on the Category Class Details tab (see <u>description below</u>). It does. Actually, it has two. Here, we'll only talk about one of them: the HHS Essential Health Benefits Rx Crosswalk (see <u>description below</u>). Although it can't be kept entirely current, the EHB Rx Crosswalk is updated each year. As prescription drugs go on and off the market, sometimes the updated EHB Rx Crosswalk contains more or fewer drugs in a Category Class than there were in 2014 when the current benchmark plans were sold. Also, as new prescription drugs are approved that work in new ways, the updated EHB Rx Crosswalk sometimes includes new Category Classes of drugs. Enter the "Benchmark Reevaluation" column.



The Benchmark Reevaluation column is described by HHS as "the count of chemically distinct drugs in each of the categories and classes of drugs included in the category & class drug count review based on each state's original benchmark plan." In other words, the numbers in the Benchmark Reevaluation column are the number of drugs that were on the benchmark plan's formulary in 2014 <u>AND</u> are still on the market today. For Plan Year 2020 in Washington, there are 32 Category and Class IDs with reevaluated benchmarks lower than the initial benchmark.

You can think of the Benchmark Count, described above, as the intersection between the formulary for Washington's benchmark plan (which is a Plan Year 2014 plan), and the EHB Rx Crosswalk against which it was initially measured (which was the EHB Rx Crosswalk for Plan Year 2015). The numbers in the Benchmark Count column reflect the number of drugs in each Category Class on the benchmark plan that were listed on the PY 2015 EHB Rx Crosswalk. Because that's what those numbers represent, they don't change over time. They are the numbers that represent how "comprehensive" the prescription drug coverage in the benchmark plan was. As discussed above, this tool measures to ensure that the plan being tested has similarly "comprehensive" drug coverage in each Category Class. So it measures plan formularies to see that they still contain the same number of drugs in each Category Class as the benchmark plan.

The Benchmark Reevaluation measures the benchmark formulary against a different EHB Rx Crosswalk than the Benchmark Count. The Benchmark Reevaluation is the intersection between the benchmark formulary and the EHB Rx Crosswalk for the *upcoming* Plan Year. So, for example, the Drug Count Tool for Plan Year 2020 measures the benchmark formulary against the EHB Rx Crosswalk for Plan Year 2020. Since the benchmark plan formulary never changes, but EHB Rx Crosswalk changes each year based upon what drugs have become unavailable and newly available, the numbers in the Benchmark Reevaluation *can* change each year.

So the numbers of drugs in this column reflect a "reevaluated" number based on what has happened regarding the drugs in that Category Class since the benchmark plan was sold. With that understanding, here's why the numbers in the Benchmark Reevaluation might be different from the numbers in the Benchmark Count:

Why the "Benchmark Reevaluation" number may be lower than the "Benchmark Count."

The overall description above sums up why the Benchmark Reevaluation number would be lower than the Benchmark Count: because there are some drugs in a particular Category Class that were on the benchmark formulary but are no longer available.

Up to Plan Year 2019, OIC accepted a result that shows the formulary had met the drug count in the Benchmark Reevaluation column. But, for Plan Year 2020, this is no longer acceptable. Carriers are required to meet the higher of the Benchmark Count or the Benchmark Reevaluation wherever possible. That's because, in most categories, there are actually more



drugs in that Category Class (as shown on the Category Class Details tab) than the Benchmark Count or Benchmark Reevaluation, because new drugs have come on the market. That's why you sometimes see a result where the drug list count exceeds the Benchmark Reevaluation count. (Red circles, below.)

<u> </u>	•		v	-		<u> </u>			2	IN IN
_					Category Class Result:	2 Lists Not Met	12 Category Cl	asses Not Met	142 Category C	asses Not Met
	Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)
	7	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Reversal Agents	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
	8	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Smoking Cessation Agents	3	3		3	Yes	0	No
	9	Antibacterials	Aminoglycosides	5	2		3	Yes - Reevaluated	4	Yes - Reevaluated
	10	Antibacterials	Antibacterials, Other	17	13		14	Yes - Reevaluated	16	Yes - Reevaluated
	11	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Cephalosporins	10	10		10	Yes	11	Yes

Of course, the benchmark plan, which was sold in 2014, could not have covered new drugs that have come out in subsequent years. However, current plans *can* cover them to meet the benchmark in that particular Category Class. So there is no reason to limit the benchmark requirement, and to do so would be inconsistent with the requirement to provide the full Prescription Drug EHB under federal and state law. To require plans to continue to meet the state benchmark if possible is also consistent with the statement on the Category Class Summary tab that says:

The Benchmark Reevaluation column contains updated benchmark counts based on the current EHB Rx Crosswalk. This column is only for reference purposes since issuers are still required to meet or exceed the values in Benchmark Count column. In several situations, it may be impossible for a particular Category and Class to meet the EHB benchmark count because the number of available chemically distinct drugs in the EHB Rx Crosswalk has decreased for that Category and Class.

That last sentence from the statement above is what we've just been talking about. When there are fewer drugs left in a Category Class than the benchmark plan covered, it is no longer possible to meet the benchmark. In that case, the carrier must be allowed to meet the benchmark by covering as many drugs as remain available in that Category Class. The carrier must submit a justification that explains this. Since the number of available drugs is the same for every carrier, every carrier would submit the same justification for that Category Class.

This is easier to understand with a simple example.

In 2014, the Benchmark Plan formulary covered 10 drugs in the Category Class "Antibacterials, Qhinolones". The Drug Count Tool contains a list of these 10 drugs by RxCUI. Remember: that list does not change.

We all know that old drugs go off the market and new drugs come on the market all the time. For that reason, the HHS Essential Health Benefit Rx Crosswalk is updated annually with the RxCUIs for all off-the-market drugs removed and the RxCUIs for all new drugs added. And in October, 2018, when the EHB Rx Crosswalk for Plan Year 2020 was created, there were only 6



drugs in this Category Class. As a result, although the benchmark number of drugs in this Category Class is 10, that benchmark cannot currently be met, because there are only 6 drugs available in this Category Class.

5 of the currently available drugs in this Category Class were covered in the benchmark plan. That's what the number in the Benchmark Reevaluation Column represents: of the 10 drugs covered by the benchmark plan in 2014, 5 of those drugs are still available. Therefore, the "Benchmark Reevaluation" reflects 5. See screen shot, below.

15	Antibacterials	Quinolones	\leq	10	5

This is a good example of why we say that the Benchmark Reevaluation is not always a meaningful number. It doesn't matter how many of the specific drugs in this Category Class in 2014 are still available because, as discussed above, federal law does not require that a plan cover the same drugs as the benchmark plan to meet the EHB. Federal law requires that a carrier cover the same *number* of drugs in each Category Class as the benchmark plan. Since this is not possible in the "Antibacterials, Quinolones" Category Class, the carrier cannot meet that standard. But the carrier must still cover as many drugs as possible toward meeting the Benchmark Count. In this case, that means the carrier must cover all 6 drugs available in this Category Class. Covering the 5 drugs that were covered in 2014 that are still available (what the Benchmark Reevaluation measures) is not sufficient, because that is not the standard. If there are sufficient drugs available to meet the Benchmark Count in a particular Category Class, the carrier is required to meet that benchmark. If there are not sufficient drugs available to meet the Benchmark Count in a particular Category Class, the carrier is required to cover as many drugs as are available.

Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Number that must be covered	Does the number that must be covered match the Benchmark Reevaluation?
Antibacterials	Quinolones	10	6	No
Antibacterials	Sulfonamides	5	2	Yes
Anti-Inflammatory Agents	Glucocorticoids	26	6	Yes
Antimigraine Agents	Ergot Alkaloids	2	2	No

For Plan Year 2020, OIC is aware of 9 Category Classes of drugs in which there are no longer sufficient drugs available to meet the Benchmark Count:



Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Number that must be covered	Does the number that must be covered match the Benchmark Reevaluation?
Cardiovascular Agents	Diuretics, Carbonic Anhydrase Inhibitors	2	1	Yes
Hormonal Agents, Stimulant / Replacement / Modifying (Adrenal)	No USP Class	31	10	Yes
Hormonal Agents, Suppressant (Adrenal)	No USP Class	2	1	Yes
Ophthalmic Agents	Ophthalmic Anti- allergy Agents	10	9	Yes
Respiratory Tract / Pulmonary Agents	Phosphodiesterase Inhibitors, Airways Disease	6	3	No



How does OIC know that? We know because there is a "heads up" on the Category Class Summary tab of the Drug Count Tool. If you scroll to the bottom, you'll see a chart that looks like this:

"The Benchma (IL), uhare re- an the PY2019 Benchmark Ce count becaure	The Benchmark Reevaluation column contains updated benchmark counts based on the current EHB RX Grazzualk (excluding Illinois (IL), uhar seesuluated benchmark counts users updated just prior to PY2020; meaning IL's re-evaluated benchmarks counts are based on the PY2014 PBR RX Grazzualk). This columns in any for reference purpare strine string error scattline quired to mechanists are seed the value in Benchmark Count column. Inseveral situations, it may be impazsible for a particular cotegory and class to meet the EHB benchmark count be cause the number of available chemically distinct drugs in the EHB RX Crazzualk har decreated for that category and class.											
In there situati clarses for the	ions, there uill have a value of "Yes - Reev correspondingstates:	aluated" in the "Met? (Yer/Ho)" column and be) in the following categories and									
Category Clarr ID	Category	Clarz	States Affected									
15	Antibactorials	Quinalanor	AK; AL; AR; A2; C1; D0; DE; FL; GA; HI; IA; ID; IL; IN; K5; KY; LA; MA; MD; ME; MI; M0; M5; M1; H0; H0; H0; H0; HI; M3; NM; NV; NY; OH; OK; OB; PA; RI; S0; SD; TN; TX; VA; V1; WA; W1; W3; W1; OPM - 1; OPM - 2; OPM -3;									
16	Antibactorials	Sulfanamidør	AK; AL; AP; A2; CA; CO; CT; DC; DE; FL; GA; HI; IA; ID; IL; IH; K3; KY; LA; MA; MD; ME; MI; MH; MO; MS; MT; NC; ND; NE; NH; NU; NM; NV; NY; OH OK; OP; PA; PI; SC; SD; TN; TX; UT; VA; VT; WA; WI; WV; WY; OPM - 1; OPM - 2; OPM - 3;									
34	Anti-inflammatory Agentr	Glucocorticoidr	AK; AL; AP; A2; CA; CO; CT; DC; DE; FL; GA; HI; IA; ID; IL; IH; K3; KY; LA; MA; MD; ME; MI; MH; MO; MS; MT; NC; ND; NE; NH; NU; NM; NV; NY; OH OK; OP; PA; PI; SC; SD; TN; TX; UT; VA; VT; WA; WI; WV; WY; OPM - 1; OPM - 2; OPM - 3;									
36	Antimigraine Agents	Erqot Alkaloidr	AK; AL; AB; A2; CA; CO; CT; DC; DE FL; GA; HI; IA; ID; IL; IN; KS; KY; LA; MA; MD; ME; MO; MT; NC; ND; NE; NJ; NM; NV; NY; OH; OK; OR; FA; RI; SC; SD; TN; TX; VA; VT; WA; WI; WV; WY; OPM - 1; OPM - 2; OPM - 3;									
97	Cardiovarcular Aqontr	Diurotics, Carbanic Anhydraso Inhibitass	AK; AL; AR; A2; CA; CO; CT; DC; DE; FL; GA; HL; IA; IL; IN; KS; KY; LA; MA MD; ME; MN; MO; MS; MT; NC; ND; NE; NH; NJ; NM; NV; NY; OH; OK; OB PA; RI; SC; SD; TN; TX; UT; VA; VT; WA; WI; WV; WY; OPM - 1; OPM - 2; OPM - 3;									
128	Harmanal Agentr, Stimulant/ Replacement/Madifying (Adrenal)	Ne USP Class	AK; AL; AR; A2; CA; CO; CT; DC; DE; FL; GA; HI; IA; ID; IL; IH; K5; KY; LA; MA; MD; ME; MI; MN; M0; MS; MT; NC; ND; NE; NH; NJ; NM; NV; NY; OH OK; OR; PA; RI; SC; SD; TN; TX; UT; VA; VT; WA; WI; WV; WY; OPM - 1; OPM - 2; OPM - 3;									
138	Hormonal Agentr, Suppressant (Adrenal)	No USP Clarr	AK; AL; AZ; FL; GA; IN; LA; MA; ME; MI; MN; NY; OH; RI; SC; VA; WA; WI; WY; OPM - 1: OPM - 2: OPM - 3:									
150	Ophthalmic Agents	Ophthalmic Anti-allergy Agents	A2; C1; DE; GA; HI; KY; MA; OB; PA; SC; TN; VT; WA; WV; OPM-1; OPM- 2;									
162	Rospiratory Tract/Pulmonary Agonts	Pharphodiestorare Inhibitors, Airways Dire	AR; AZ; CT; DE; GA; HI; IN; KY; LA; MA; ME; MO; NH; NV; OH; PA; SC; TN; VA; VT; WA; WV; OPM - 1; OPM - 2;									

This chart tells us that the number of drugs in a Category Class has dropped and it may no longer be possible to meet the Benchmark Count for Plan Year 2020. With that knowledge, we then look at the 2020 EHB Rx Crosswalk to determine how many unique drugs are available in that Category Class to meet the Benchmark Count. (Remember that this is a different number than the Benchmark Reevaluation, which only looks at which 2014 drugs are still available, not how many drugs total are currently available to meet the Benchmark Count. That's why we've included the column above showing that these numbers are often not the same, to illustrate for which drugs meeting the Benchmark Reevaluation is sufficient for Plan Year 2020, and for which drugs it is not.)

Why the "Benchmark Count" may be zero and the "Benchmark Reevaluation" number may be higher:



In a few instances, a particular Category Class may be new since 2014. That results in the Benchmark Count being zero, even if the benchmark formulary covered some drugs that are now counted toward that new Category Class. That's because, as stated before, the Benchmark Count is the comparison of the 2014 benchmark formulary with the Plan Year 2015 EHB Rx Crosswalk. The 2015 EHB Rx Crosswalk didn't have this Category Class, so it didn't count any drugs in this Category Class in the benchmark plan.

The Benchmark Reevaluation, however, is the comparison of the benchmark formulary with the *current* EHB Rx Crosswalk. In this case, the 2014 Washington benchmark plan formulary with the Plan Year 2020 EHB Rx Crosswalk. Any drug on the 2014 benchmark formulary that counts toward the new Category Class will be counted in the Benchmark Reevaluation.

Take a look at an example. The highlighted rows represent two Classes in the Antivirals Category.

	Category Category Class Class ID Class ID Class 67 Antivirals Anti-hepatits B (HBV) Agents, Di 68 Antivirals Anti-hepatits C (HCV) Agents, Di 69 Antivirals Anti-hepatits C (HCV) Agents, Di	Category Class Result: 2 Lists Not Met 12 Category Cl				12 Category Clas	Classes Not Met 142 Category Classes Not Met				
	Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)	
1	67 Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis B (H	IBV) Agents	7	7		6	No	0	No	
	68 Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (H	ICV) Agents, Direct Acting	0	0		9	Yes	0	No	
1	69 Antivirals Anti-hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Other			4		4	Yes	0	No		
1	70 Antivirale	Antihernetic Agen	te	5	5		5	Ves	1	No	

Category Class 68 is "Antivirals, Anti-hepatitis C Agents, Direct Acting". This Category Class was not added to the United States Pharmacopeia (USP) until after 2014. In addition, none of the drugs in this Class, like Sovaldi and Harvoni, were approved for use at that time. So the Benchmark Count is zero (because this Class didn't exist so no drugs were counted toward it). The Benchmark Reevaluation count is also zero (because no drugs that would satisfy this Class were covered on the benchmark formulary).

Now look at the row below it, Category Class 69, "Anti-hepatitis C Agents, Other". Again, the Benchmark Count is zero (purple circle). Again, that's because this particular Class of drugs didn't exist, so no drugs were counted toward it in 2014. However, in this case, there were 4 drugs on the benchmark formulary that would have satisfied this Class, if it had existed. Therefore, now that it does exist, the Benchmark Reevaluation count in this class is 4. (Because the Benchmark Reevaluation count shown here is a comparison of the 2014 benchmark formulary with the Plan Year 2020 EHB Crosswalk.)

That's why, where the Benchmark Count is zero, but the Benchmark Reevaluation count is higher, a carrier must meet the higher Benchmark Reevaluation count. Otherwise, the formulary's coverage in that Category Class is not as comprehensive as the benchmark formulary's coverage and plans using that formulary do not provide the prescription drug EHB.

An important heads up about this requirement: The tool does not flag this deficiency. Where the Benchmark Count is zero, and the Benchmark Reevaluation is more than zero, the



logic of the tool does not recognize a failure to meet the Benchmark Reevaluation as a deficiency. See below.

D18	34 -	: $\times \checkmark f_x$ Phospho	diesterase Inhibitors, Airways Disease							
1						r				
2							•	•	•	•
A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	к
3					Category Class Result:	2 Lists Not Met	12 Category Cla	asses Not Met	142 Category Cla	asses Not Met
4	Category Class ID	Category	Class 🗸	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)
53	49	Antineoplastics	Enzyme Inhibitors	3	2		1	No	6	Yes
54	50	Antineoplastics	Molecular Target Inhibitors	15	17		22	Yes	12	No
55	51	Antineoplastics	Monoclonal Antibody/Antibody-Drug Conjugate	1	0		0	No	18	Yes
56	52	Antineoplastics	Retinoids	3	2		3	Yes	0	No
57	53	Antineoplastics	Treatment Adjuncts	0	8		7	Yes	13	Yes
58	54	Antiparasitics	Anthelmintics	4	3		4	Yes	0	No
59	55	Antiparasitics	Antiprotozoals	11	11		11	Yes	1	No
60	56	Antiparasitics	Pediculicides/Scabicides	6	7		6	Yes	0	No
61	57	Antiparkinson Agents	Anticholinergics	3	3		2	No	2	No
62	58	Antiparkinson Agents	Antiparkinson Agents, Other	3	3		3	Yes	0	No
63	29	Antiparkinson Agents	Dopamine Agonists	4	5		5	res	0	NO
64	60	Antiparkinson Agents	Dopamine Precursors/ L-Amino Acid Decarboxylase Inhibitors	2	2		2	Yes	0	No
65	61	Antiparkinson Agents	Monoamine Oxidase B (MAO-B) Inhibitors	2	2		2	Yes	0	No
66	62	Antipsychotics	1st Generation/Typical	10	10		10	Yes	4	No
67	63	Antipsychotics	2nd Generation/Atypical	9	9		10	Yes	6	No
68	64	Antipsychotics	Treatment-Resistant	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
69	65	Antispasticity Agents	No USP Class	4	3		3	Yes - Reevaluated	4	Yes
70	66	Antivirals	Anti-cytomegalovirus (CMV) Agents	2	2		2	Yes	2	Yes
71	67	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis B (HBV) Agents	7	7		6	No	0	No
72	68	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Direct Acting	0	0		9	Yes	0	No
73	69	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Other	0	4		4	Yes	0	No
74	70	Antivirals	Antiherpetic Agents	5	5		5	Yes	1	No
75	/1	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase Inhibitors (INSTI)	2	2		5	Yes	0	No
76	72	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Non-nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NNRTI)	5	7		8	Yes	0	No
77	73	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Nucleoside and Nucleotide Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NRTI)	12	14		18	Yes	1	No
78	74	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Other	3	3		6	Yes	0	No
79	75	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Protease Inhibitors	9	9		11	Yes	0	No
80	76	Antivirals	Anti-influenza Agents	4	4		4	Yes	0	No
81	77	Anxiolytics	Anxiolytics, Other	4	5		4	Yes	1	No
82	78	Anxiolytics	Benzodiazepines SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake	0	8		6	Yes	3	Yes
83	79	Anxiolytics	Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors)	5	5		5	Yes	0	No
84	80	Bipolar Agents	Bipolar Agents, Other	7	8		9	Yes	5	No
85	81	Bipolar Agents	Mood Stabilizers	5	5		5	Yes	0	No
86	82	Blood Glucose Regulators	Antidiabetic Agents	21	21		35	Yes	0	No
87	83	Blood Glucose Regulators	Glycemic Agents	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
88	84	Blood Glucose Regulators	Insulins	10	10		12	Yes	0	No
89	85	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Anticoagulants	8	7		8	Yes	2	No
90	86	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Blood Formation Modifiers	6	7		6	Yes	5	No
91	87	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Hemostasis Agents	0	2		2	Yes	16	Yes
4		Instructions Output Descriptio	n Issuer Summary Plan Summar	ry 🕴 Plan Deta	ils Category	y Class Summary	Category Class	Details All R)	(CUIs Submitted	+

Note that, in each of the highlighted rows, the Benchmark Count is lower than the Benchmark Reevaluation count. However, although the drug list being evaluated does not meet the higher Benchmark Reevaluation count, in each case this deficiency is not flagged.

As a result, carriers and OIC Analysts need to know the Category Classes in which this situation exists, so that they can hand-check the drug counts. For Plan Year 2020, those Category Classes are:

Category Class ID*	Category	Class	Benchmark Reevaluation count that must be met
53	Antineoplastics	Treatment Adjuncts	8
69	Antivirals	Anti-Hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Other	4
78	Anxiolytics	Benzodiazepines	8



Category Class ID*	Category	Class	Benchmark Reevaluation count that must be met
87	Blood Products / Modifiers / Volume Expanders	Hemostasis Agents	2
113	Electrolytes / Minerals / Metals / Vitamins	Electrolyte / Mineral Replacements	5
114	Electrolytes / Minerals / Metals / Vitamins	Electrolyte / Mineral / Metal Modifiers	6
115	Electrolytes / Minerals / Metals / Vitamins	Phosphate Binders	3
116	Electrolytes / Minerals / Metals / Vitamins	Vitamins	1
124	Genetic or Enzyme Disorder: Replacement, Modifiers Treatment	No USP Class	7
134	Hormonal Agents, Stimulant / Replacement / Modifying (Sex Hormones / Modifiers)	Progesterone Agonists / Antagonists	1

* Normally, we recommend ignoring the Category Class ID, because these change from tool to tool and that can be confusing. However, they're included here for ease of reference because there are so many Category Classes in this Tool that need to be hand checked.

Why the "benchmark count" may be one or more, and the "benchmark reevaluation" number may be higher

A state's benchmark plan formulary may contain drugs that, in Plan Year 2015, either were not on the EHB Rx Crosswalk at all, or were not being counted toward a particular Category Class on that EHB Rx Crosswalk. Since the Plan Year 2015 EHB Rx Crosswalk, drugs have been added to subsequent years' EHB-Rx Crosswalks, and new drugs that were previously not counted toward a Particular Category Class have also begun to be counted toward that Category Class. This would happen, for example, when a particular drug has been found, since 2014, to be effective for a new use.



Let's say a particular drug was covered in the benchmark formulary, and was not counted toward Category Class X when the Benchmark Count was calculated for Plan Year 2015 (remember the Benchmark Count doesn't change because it's the comparison of the 2014 formulary with the Plan Year 2015 EHB Rx Crosswalk). But the drug was subsequently found to be effective for use in Category Class X. Therefore, in 2018, the FDA approved that drug for use in Category Class X. The Plan Year 2020 EHB Rx Template will show the drug as now counting toward Category Class X, so when the benchmark formulary is compared to the Plan Year 2020 EHB Rx Crosswalk (which is how the Benchmark Reevaluation is calculated), those drugs will now count so the result will show a higher number of covered drugs in that Category Class in the benchmark plan.

As CCIIO explained in an E-mail to OIC, "We try our best to follow United States Pharmacopeia's (USP) drug classification system, but we may need to expand, edit, or update the system to be better aligned with the Marketplace population (USP's Medicare Model Guideline was created specifically for the Medicare Part D program)."

Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	49831 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)
78	Anxiolytics	Benzodiazepines	0	9		8	Yes	8	Yes
79	Anxiolytics	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors)	5	5		5	Yes	5	Yes
80	Bipolar Agents	Bipolar Agents, Other	7	9		10	Yes	10	Yes
81	Bipolar Agents	Mood Stabilizers	5	5		5	Yes	5	Yes
82	Blood Glucose Regulators	Antidiabetic Agents	21	21		27	Yes	27	Yes
83	Blood Glucose Regulators	Glycemic Agents	1	1		1	Yes	1	Yes
84	Blood Glucose Regulators	Insulins	10	10		11	Yes	11	Yes
85	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Anticoagulants	8	8		8	Yes	8	Yes
86	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Blood Formation Modifiers	6	7		8	Yes	8	Yes
87	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Hemostasis Agents	0	2		2	Yes	2	Yes
88	Blood Products/ Modifiers/ Volume Expanders	Platelet Modifying Agents	8	8		8	Yes	8	Yes
89	Cardiovascular Agents	Alpha-adrenergic Agonists	4	4		4	Yes	4	Yes
90	Cardiovascular Agents	Alpha-adrenergic Blocking Agents	4	4		4	Yes	4	Yes
91	Cardiovascular Agents	Angiotensin II Receptor Antagonists	8	8		8	Yes	8	Yes
92	Cardiovascular Agents	Angiotensin-converting Enzyme (ACE) Inhibitors	10	10		10	Yes	10	Yes
93	Cardiovascular Agents	Antiarrhythmics	10	10		10	Yes	10	Yes
94	Cardiovascular Agents	Beta-adrenergic Blocking Agents	13	13		13	Yes	13	Yes
95	Cardiovascular Agents	Calcium Channel Blocking Agents	9	9		9	Yes	9	Yes
96	Cardiovascular Agents	Cardiovascular Agents, Other	4	5		6	Yes	6	Yes
07	Conditioner and an America	Disasting Contracts Astrodeses Intelligen	2	4		0	Al-	0	Al.

Where there are no drugs in a Category Class:

For Plan Year 2018, there was one Category Class in which there were currently no FDAapproved drugs. Category Class 51: Antineoplastics, Monoclonal Antibodies showed "Not Met" for every carrier that year. (See highlighted row in screen shot, below.) OIC accepted a justification that there are no FDA-approved drugs to meet this Category Class.

				Category Class Result:	1 List Not Met	1 Category C	lass Not Met
Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	23371 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)
49	Antineoplastics	Enzyme Inhibitors	3	3		10	Yes
50	Antineoplastics	Molecular Target Inhibitors	15	15		24	Yes
51	Antineoplastics	Monoclonal Antibodies	1	0		0	No
50				0			N/ B 1 1 1



For Plan Year 2019, there were no Category Classes in which there are no drugs available. The same is true for Plan Year 2020.

Now let's move on in the description of the Category Class Details tab. The next columns to the right of the Benchmark Reevaluation column are green columns. They are the results for the drug lists being tested.

E14	17 *	$: \times \checkmark f_x \circ$								
1										
2										
A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К
3				-	Category Class Result:	2 Lists Not Met	12 Category C	lasses Not Met	142 Category C	lasses Not Met
4	Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	Benchmark Reevaluation*	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Count	List 1 Met? (Yes/No)	List 2 Count	List 2 Met? (Yes/No)
5	1	Analgesics	Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs	20	21		21	Yes	3	No
6	2	Analgesics	Opioid Analgesics, Long-acting	11	11		11	Yes	3	No
7	3	Analgesics	Opioid Analgesics, Short-acting	12	15		17	Yes	9	No
8	4	Anesthetics	Local Anesthetics	3	2		3	Yes	8	Yes
9	5	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Alcohol Deterrents/Anti-craving	3	3		3	Yes	1	No
10	6	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Dependence Treatments	2	4		4	Yes	3	Yes
11	7	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Reversal Agents	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
12	8	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Smoking Cessation Agents	3	3		3	Yes	0	No
13	9	Antibacterials	Aminoglycosides	5	2		3	Yes - Reevaluated	4	Yes - Reevaluated
14	10	Antibacterials	Antibacterials, Other	17	13		14	Yes - Reevaluated	16	Yes - Reevaluated
15	11	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Cephalosporins	10	10		10	Yes	11	Yes
16	12	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Other	2	1		1	Yes - Reevaluated	7	Yes
17	13	Antibacterials	Beta-lactam, Penicillins	5	5		5	Yes	6	Yes
18	14	Antibacterials	Macrolides	5	5		4	No	2	No
19	15	Antibacterials	Quinolones	10	5		5	Yes - Reevaluated	4	No
20	16	Antibacterials	Sulfonamides	5	2		2	Yes - Reevaluated	1	No
21	1/	Antibacterials	Tetracyclines	4	4		4	Yes	2	No
22	18	Anticonvulsants	Anticonvulsants, Other	4	3		4	Yes	2	No
23	19	Anticonvulsants	Calcium Channel Modifying Agents	4	4		4	res	U	NO
24	20	Anticonvulsants	Augmenting Agents	4	7		6	Yes	3	No
25	21	Anticonvulsants	Glutamate Reducing Agents	3	3		3	Yes	0	No
26	22	Anticonvulsants	Sodium Channel Agents				1	Yes	3	No
21	23	Antidementia Agents	Antidementia Agents, Utner	2	2		1	Yes	0	NO
28	24	Antidementia Agents	Cholinesterase inhibitors	3	3		3	Tes	U	NO
29	25	Antidementia Agents	Antagonist	1	1		1	Yes	0	No
30	26	Antidepressants	Antidepressants, Other	8	8		8	Yes	0	No
31	28	Antidepressants	Monoamine Uxidase innibitors SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Norepinephrine	11	11		11	Yes	0	No
33	29	Antidenressants	Tricyclics	9	9		9	Yes	0	No
34	30	Antiemetics	Antiemetics, Other	10	10		9	No	9	No
35	31	Antiemetics	Emetogenic Therapy Adjuncts	6	6		5	No	5	No
36	32	Antifungals	No USP Class	21	21		23	Yes	9	No
37	33	Antiquet Agents	No USP Class	6	6		7	Yes	0	No
38	34	Anti-inflammatory Agents	Glucocorticoids	26	6		7	Yes - Reevaluated	3	No
39	35	Anti-inflammatory Agents	Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs	20	21		21	Yes	3	No
40	36	Antimigraine Agents	Ergot Alkaloids	2	1		2	Yes	0	No
41	37	Antimigraine Agents	Prophylactic	3	4		4	Yes	1	No
42	38	Antimigraine Agents	Serotonin (5-HT) 1b/1d Receptor Agonists	7	7		7	Yes	0	No
43	39	Antimyasthenic Agents	Parasympathomimetics	3	2		2	Yes - Reevaluated	0	No
44	40	Antimycobacterials	Antimycobacterials, Other	2	2		2	Yes	0	No
	•	Instructions Output Descrip	otion Issuer Summary Plan Summar	ry Plan Deta	ails Category	y Class Summary	Category Class	s Details All RX	CUIs Submitted	÷

Note that, in the example above, the carrier has two Drug Lists. The results for List 2 appear to the right of the results for List 1.

The red arrows in the screen shots above point to the overview of the results at the top of the column. If this overview says that all Category Classes are met, that is all you need to know. You do not need any more information.

If, as in the case of the screenshot above, this overview indicates that there are unmet Category Classes, then you look at the information below the overview.

The first column in this green set of columns simply gives the HIOS ID of the carrier so that you know whose results they are. The second column, "List 1 count", tells you how many drugs are covered in each Category Class on that drug list. The column to the right of that, "List 1 met?



(Yes/No)" tells you whether the number of covered drugs in that Category Class meets or exceeds the Benchmark Count or Benchmark Reevaluation count. If there is more than one drug list, as there are in the screen shot above, there will be a "List X Count" and a "List X Met? (Yes/No)" column for each Drug List.

Let's look at some of the results in these columns. The second row shows a "Met" result (red circle). There are 20 drugs in the "Analgesics, Opioid Analgesics, Long-acting" Category Class in the benchmark plan, the Benchmark Reevaluation shows that there are still at least 11 drugs in that Category Class, and drug list 1 covers 11 drugs in this Category Class. Therefore, the "List 1 Met? (Yes/No)" column says Yes, and the result is in regular font. Drug list 2, however, shows a "failed" result for this Category Class. Drug list 2 covers only 3 drugs in this Category Class. This does not meet or exceed the Benchmark Count, so the "List 2 Met? (Yes/No)" column says "No". Both the result and the count are in bold, red font.

The purple circle shows a similar result. There are 21 drugs in the "Antifungals, No USP Class" Category Class in the benchmark plan, the Benchmark Reevaluation shows there are still at least 21 drugs in this Category Class, and the "List 1 Count" column shows that the list being tested has 13 covered drugs in this Category Class. Therefore, the List 1 Met? (Yes/No)" column says "Yes" in regular font. The List 2 count, however, is only 9. This does not meet the benchmark, so again the "List 2 Met? (Yes/No)" column says "No", and both the count and the result are shown in bold, red font.

The yellow circle shows a failed result for the Category Class "Antiemetics, Antiemetics, Other". The Benchmark Count is 10 drugs in this Category Class, and the Benchmark Reevaluation shows the same 10 drugs are still available in this Category Class. However, both drug lists cover only 9. This carrier will need to either cover an additional drug in this Category Class on each drug list, or submit a justification to show why this plan can be approved despite not meeting the benchmark.

The green circle shows a situation that illustrates several of the concepts discussed previously in this User Guide. The Benchmark Count for the "Antibacterials, Aminoglycosides" Category Class is 5. The Benchmark Reevaluation column shows that, of the 5 drugs in this Category Class covered under the benchmark plan in 2014, 2 of those same drugs are still available. Drug list 1 covers 3 drugs in this Category Class, and drug list 2 covers 4. Since those meet or exceed the Benchmark Reevaluation, the results columns show "Yes – Reevaluated". However, although the drug lists meet the Benchmark Reevaluation, we know that that number is often not meaningful. The carrier is required to meet the Benchmark Count if there are sufficient available drugs in this Category Class. Therefore, the carrier will need to add 2 drugs to drug list 1 and one drug to drug list 2 in this Category Class, because it is possible to meet the Benchmark Count.



The Category Class Summary tab tells you all you need to know in most cases. But there may be situations in which you want or need to look deeper to answer a question or solve a problem with a drug list. The last two tabs can help with this. That is one reason OIC requires carriers to submit their entire Excel workbook results.

Category Class Details tab

This tab is based on the HHS Essential Health Benefits Rx Crosswalk, described above. It lists each of the chemically distinct drugs on that crosswalk. "Chemically distinct" simply means that, although two drugs may be in the same Category Class, they are not the same substance. Just as each drug Category is made up of one or more drug Class, each drug Class is made up of one or more chemically distinct drugs. The benchmark tells us how many of those chemically distinct drugs must be covered in each Category Class.

The default is for the list to be sorted by Category Class ID, but like the other tabs in the Drug Count Tool results, it can be sorted by the information in any of the columns. For example, if you wanted to see whether a particular drug was included in a particular Category Class, or which drugs in a particular Category Class are covered, the default sort makes sense. But if you want to see whether a particular drug is covered, or which Category(ies) or Class(es) a particular drug falls into, sorting by Chemically Distinct Drug name would work much better. (Remember, one drug can fall into more than one Category Class, because drugs sometimes have multiple effects.)

Let's see how else we might use the Category Class Details tab. Suppose the carrier gets the result below, showing that its small group plan does not meet the benchmark in the "Genitourinary Agents, Genitourinary Agents, Other" Category Class. The benchmark count is 7 drugs in this Category Class, but the Small Group plan covers only 6. (See highlighted row, below.)



To determine what the carrier needs to do to meet the benchmark for this Category Class, we can look at the Category Class Details tab and see which drugs are included in this Category Class. There are 8 such drugs. (See highlighted area, below.) We also see which of these drugs are covered on the carrier's Drug List, and which are not. (See red circle, below.) Using this information, we know that the carrier can add either flibanserin or sildenafil to its formulary to meet this Category Class, because each of these drugs is listed as "missing" from the list. (See green circles, below.) By comparing the Individual Drug List result to the Small Group Drug List



result, we can also see that flibanserin is covered on the carrier's Individual formulary (red arrow, below) while sildenafil is not (blue arrow).

2						Marketplace Type:	Indiv	idual	SHOP (Sr	nall Group)
3	Chemically Distinct Drug ID	Chemically Distinct Drug	Category Class ID	Category		Class	80473 Orug Lists →	List 1 Missing?	80473 Drug Lists	List 1 Missing?
911	846	Terazosin	120	Genitourinary Agents	Benign Prostatic Hy	pertrophy Agents		No		No
912	97	Bethanechol	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		No
913	211	Cysteamine	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		No
914	355	flibanserin	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		(Yes)
915	624	Nitroglycerin	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		No
916	674	Penicillamine	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		No
917	677	Pentosan Polysulfate	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		No
918	793	sildenafil	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		Yes		(Yes)
919	832	tadalafil	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agent	ts, Other		No		No
920	125	calcium acetate	122	Genitourinary Agents	Phosphate Binders			No		NO

All RxCUIs Submitted tab

The All RxCUIs Submitted tab is just what the name implies. This is the list of all drugs on the drug list(s) being analyzed. It looks like this:

X	1 S	• <i>⊘</i> • ∓						ASU	RIS Individual Drug Cor	unt Tool Results - I	Excel							
FIL	E HO	OME INS	ERT PA	GE LAYOUT FO	RMULAS DATA	REVIEW VIEW DYMO Lab	el ACROBAT											P
1	🔏 Cut	_	Arial	- 10 -	A* A* = = =	🛛 🗞 - 🛛 📑 Wrap Text	Seneral -		Normal 2	Normal	2 2 Normal 2 3	Normal 3	Normal		*		∑ AutoSum	· A~ A
Paste	Cop	у т	B T II	പതപക	A . = = =	and an	¢ _ 04 + •0 00	Conditional I	Format as Bad	Good	Neutral	Calculation	Check Cell	Insert	Delete F	ormat	👽 Fill 🗸	Sort & Find &
*	🞺 Form	nat Painter	<u> </u>	с · Ш · <mark>ж</mark> ·	• · · • • •	E E E E Merge & Center	↓ · 20 · [.00 +.0	Formatting *	Table *			-	×	*	*	×	🧶 Clear 🗉	Filter * Select *
	Clipboard	d ra		Font	F 2	Alignment	Number 5				Styles				Cells		Ec	liting
F4		- 1 >	$\langle \checkmark$	fx 399														
																	_	
2																		
A A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	к	L	м	N	0		P	-	Q
3	RxCUI	Retired?	Reassigner RxCUI	d Crosswalk Status	Chemically Distinct Drug ID	Chemically Distinct Drug	Category & Class Impacted	Impact Category Class Revie 🖵	69364 Drug Lists	Drug List 1	Drug List 2							
4	1000048	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	399	Doxepin	29; 77	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
5	1000054	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	399	Doxepin	29; 77	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
7	1000056	No	NIA	IC Release Crossy	399	Devenin	29; 77	Ver		Covered	Not Covered							
8	1000070	No	N/A	ic Release Crossy	399	Doxepin	29,77	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
9	1000076	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	399	Doxepin	29:77	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
10	1000089	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	36	alcaftadine	150	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
11	1000091	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	399	Doxepin	112	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
12	1000097	No	N/A	Ic Release Crossv	399	Doxepin	29; 77	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
13	1000114	NO	NA	IC Release Crossy	780	Medroxyprogesterone	135	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
14	1000126	No	NIA	Sc Palease Crossy	780	Medroxyprogesterone	135	Ver		Covered	Not Covered							
16	1000141	No	NA	fic Release Crossy	780	Medroxyprogesterone	135	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
17	1000153	No	N/A	Ic Release Crossv	780	Medroxyprogesterone	135	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
18	1000405	No	N/A	Ic Release Crossv	915	Norethindrone	135	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
19	1000479	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Bisacodyl; Potassium Chloride; Sodium Chloride; Sodium Bicarbonate; POLYETHYLENE GLYCOL 3350	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
20	1000487	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Estrogens, Conjugated (USP); Medroxyprogesterone	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
21	1000491	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Estrogens, Conjugated (USP); Medroxyprogesterone	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
22	1000497	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Estrogens, Conjugated (USP); Medroxyprogesterone	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
23	1000499	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Estrogens, Conjugated (USP); Medroxyprogesterone	N/A.	No		Covered	Not Covered							
24	1000500	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Estrogens, Conjugated (USP); Medroxyprogesterone	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
25	1000647	No	N/A	fic Release Crossv	1008	Plocarpine	151; 149	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
26	1000673	No	NIA	to Delegan Crosse	1002	Suracetamide	N/A	Vec		Covered	Not Covered							
28	1000895	NA	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Sulfacetamide: Sulfur	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
29	1000897	No	N/A	ic Release Crossy	1008	Pilocarpine	151: 149	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
30	1000913	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	1008	Pilocarpine	111	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
31	1000946	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Sulfacetamide; Sulfur	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
32	1001004	No	N/A	lic Release Crossv	1008	Plocarpine	111	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
33	1001690	No	N/A	Ic Release Crossv	770	sulfate	^{um} 121	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
34	1001714	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Sulfacetamide; Sulfur	NA	No		Covered	Not Covered							
35	1001718	NIA	NA	Hoknorm Database	N/A 002	Sulfacetamide; Sulfur	N/A CO	NO		Covered	Not Covered							
30	1002300	N/A	N/A	BxNorm Database	502 N/A	Sulfacetemide: Sulfur	50 N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
38	1005831	No	N/A	lic Release Crossy	1043	prednisolone	128: 34	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
39	1005834	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Sulfacetamide; Sulfur	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
40	1005835	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Sulfacetamide; Sulfur	N/A.	No		Covered	Not Covered							
41	1005928	No	N/A	Ac Release Crossy	1284	ulipristal	134; 135	Yes		Covered	Not Covered							
42	1006057	NIA	NA	rocnorm Database	NA	Suracetamide; Sulfur Ethinul Estradiat Laurageregatral: hart	n/A	NO		Covered	NOT COVERED							
43	1006065	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Ingredients	N/A.	No		Covered	Not Covered							
44	1006107	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	Sulfacetamide	N/A	No		Covered	Not Covered							
4	+	Instruct	ions C	utput Description	Issuer Summ	ary Plan Summary Plan Det	ails Category Cla	ss Summary	Category Class De	tails All RXC	CUIs Submitted	•						
DEAD																	1000	(m) III

On the drug list tab of their Rx Drug Templates, a carrier can indicate that a drug list does not cover a particular drug in one of two ways. The carrier can either list the RxCUI and say "Not Covered", or can simply not list the RxCUI.

There are several ways we can sort this tab. Probably the main thing someone would use this tab for is to determine whether a drug is covered. The default is for this tab to show the information sorted numerically by RxCUI. This is a good way to sort if you are looking to see whether a particular drug is covered and you know the RxCUI. More likely, you're going to want to search by the name of the drug. So you would sort the Chemically Distinct Drug column alphabetically. That way, you could just scroll to it (or show that it was not on the list). To sort



the drug list by chemically distinct drug, go to that column, click on the arrow (red arrow) and choose one of the first 2 choices (alphabetically A-Z, or alphabetically Z-A).

You can also search this tab using the "Find & Select" tool, in the upper right hand corner (green arrow in screen shot above). This works just like the one in Word. It can save you a lot of time, because you won't have to scroll through thousands of lines.

This tab used to list drugs that affect more than one Category Class separately from drugs that affect only one. However, that was problematic, and we were happy to see that this is no longer the case. Thank you, CCIIO!

It is helpful to understand what information is on each tab, and how it is presented. Then, you can consider how you should sort in order to answer the particular question you are trying to answer.

One last bit of information about the Drug Count Tool and these last two tabs, the Category Class Details and the All RxCUIs Submitted tabs. The difference between Category Classes and RxCUIs can matter.

Remember that Category Classes are groups of drugs, and that RxCUIs are much more specific – a specific drug in a specific dose and specific route of administration (oral, IV, topical). It is the nature of drugs that certain doses and preparations of a drug, but not others, are effective for certain conditions. Carriers sometimes cover a particular drug, but only in certain doses and preparations. That's why they have to list the drug by RxCUI. That means that covering a certain drug may count toward satisfying *some* of the Category Classes it affects, but not others. In these cases, you have to look closer.

Here's an example (it's an old example, but it illustrates the point).

A carrier's Small Group plan fails Category Class 121: Genitourinary Agents, Other. They have looked at the Category Class Details tab, sorted by Category Class ID, to see which drugs they can use to complete this Category Class. They saw this:

NIO		× A fr							
192		$\land \lor Jx$							
1									
2									100 B
A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J
					Marketplace	Indivi	dual	SHOP (Sm	all Group)
2					Туре:		uuu	unor (unit	in oroup,
3	Chemically Distinct Drug ID	Chemically Distinct Drug	Category Class ID	Category	Class	80473 Drug Lists	List 1 Missing?	80473 Drug Lists	List 1 Missing?
910	835	tamsulosin	120	Genitourinary Agents	Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy Agents		No		No
911	846	Terazosin	120	Genitourinary Agents	Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy Agents		No		No
912	97	Bethanechol	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		No
913	211	Cysteamine	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		IND
914	355	flibanserin	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		Yes
915	624	Nitroglycerin	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		
916	674	Penicillamine	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		No
917	677	Pentosan Polysulfate	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		
918	793	sildenafil	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		Yes		Yes
919	832	tadalafil	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other		No		

Looking at the results, they saw that they could cover either Flibanserin or Sildenafil in order to meet the benchmark coverage of this Category Class, because those are the two drugs that are



missing from their Drug List in this Category Class. (See green circles.) But the carrier is confused because the Drug List for their small group plans *does* include Sildenafil.

You re-sort the Category Class Details tab by chemically distinct drug, to find Sildenafil, and you see this:

					Marketplace Type	ndividual	SHOP (Small Group)
	Chemically Distinct Drug ID	Chemically Distinct Drug	Category Class ID	Category	Class	80473 Drug List 1 Lists Missing?	80473 Drug List 1 Lists Missing?
T	793	sildenafil	121	Genitourinary Agents	Genitourinary Agents, Other	Yes	Yes
	793	sildenafil	158	Respiratory Tract/ Pulmonary Agents	Phosphodiesterase Inhibitors, Airways Disease	No	No
	793	sildenafil	159	Respiratory Tract/ Pulmonary Agents	Pulmonary Antihypertensives	No	No
	794	silodosin	120	Genitourinary Agents	Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy Agents	No	No
	795	silver sulfadiazine	16	∆ntihacterials	Sulfonamides	No	No

Huh? It's all Chemically Distinct Drug ID 793, Sildenafil, but it says it's covered for Category Classes 158 and 159 (Respiratory / Pulmonary Agents) and *not* for Category Class 121. How can the same drug be covered and counted toward one Category Class, and not another? The answer is dosage and route of administration, represented by RxCUIs.

Look at the "All RxCUIs Submitted" tab. This is all the RxCUIs the carrier covers. We want to know about Sildenafil, so we sort by Chemically Distinct Drug. We see this.



The carrier has listed 3 different RxCUIs for Sildenafil on its Rx Drug Template: 1307431, 581645, and 577033. We know what RxCUIs are, so we know that this means the carrier covers three different dosages and routes of administration of Sildenafil. But we're not clinicians, so we don't know what doses and routes of administration are used for what conditions. Fortunately, Google does.

When we Google these RxCUIs, we see that they are for Sildenafil in the 10 Mg/MI oral suspension, the 10 Mg. oral tablet, and the 20 Mg. oral tablet. (The Google searches used were simply "RxCUI 1307431", then "RxCUI 581645", and "RxCUI 577033".) If we Google the drug Sildenafil (that Google search was simply "sildenafil"), we see that these dosages are for pulmonary hypertension, which is not a surprise because we know that these drugs satisfy two of the Respiratory / Pulmonary Agents Category Classes.

What *is* a surprise is to discover that Sildenafil is also used for erectile dysfunction under the trade name Viagra. But the dosage is much higher (25 to 100 mg. per dose) when used for this indication.

Mystery solved. Erectile dysfunction would fit with the Category Class "Genitourinary Agents, Other", but the dosages of Sildenafil that would be used for this indication are not covered. Sildenafil in the 25, 50, or 100 mg. tablet, which are used for erectile dysfunction, have the



RxCUIs 213269, 213270, 213271. None of those RxCUIs are covered on the Small Group Drug List for our carrier. We can determine that by either sorting by RxCUI and seeing that those numbers are not there, or we can use the Find & Select button to search for them and see that they are not there.

This information is useful simply to familiarize you with the information available in the Drug Count Tool results, and how it can be used. It's also specifically useful to carriers because they can use it to understand and resolve "failed" drug tool results. Finally, it's specifically useful to give OIC Analysts insight into a particular justification that they may see for a failed result, and why is not legitimate.

Bottom line:

When you first see that a drug is covered, but is not being counted toward a particular Category Class which it seemingly should satisfy, the natural conclusion is that there is a bug in the Drug Count Tool. Instead, think RxCUI. One of two things is probably going on: either the drug is too new to be on the Rx Crosswalk, or else the appropriate RxCUIs are not listed on the carrier's Rx Drug Template.

Troubleshooting begins by looking at the Category Class Details tab. If the drug is listed there, that means it is on the Rx Crosswalk. So the problem isn't that the drug is too new. If the drug is on the Rx Crosswalk, but isn't being counted toward a particular Category Class, the problem is probably that the applicable RxCUI was not listed as covered on the Rx Drug Template. In other words, the drug is not covered in the correct dosage and route of administration to satisfy that Category Class.

Substitute RxCUIs Tab

The final tab on the Category & Class Drug Count Tool results is the "Substitute RXCUIs" tab. The "Substitute RXCUIs" tab identifies any RxCUIs on the EHB Rx Crosswalk that contain chemically distinct drugs that are NOT covered on a drug list being tested. We discussed how you can use the Category Class Details tab to identify drugs that can be added to a formulary when the Tool shows it does not meet the benchmark requirements. The Substitute RxCUIs tab is a new tab added for Plan Year 2020 that can also be used for this same purpose.

Formulary Review Suite

The Formulary Review Suite is another electronic Tool for reviewing a carrier's formularies. It contains two Tools: the Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Review Tool and the Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool. Carriers must run the Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool and provide results to OIC. They are not required to run the Formulary Outlier Review Tool, because it will not return meaningful results when run on only one carrier's formularies. (This will be explained below in the description of this Tool.)



Both Tools analyze formularies to determine whether the particular drugs covered, and the restrictions placed upon those drugs, appear to have a discriminatory effect on people with particular health conditions. Each Tool analyzes this in a different way.

In the case of these tools, "formulary" means the combination of a drug list with two coverage criteria: preauthorization and step therapy requirements. Preauthorization and step therapy requirements are the "restrictions" the Tool analyzes.

Like the Drug Count Tool, the Formulary Review Suite uses Plans and Benefits Template data pulled from the Master Review tool, and the Rx Drug Template. That allows it to report results at the plan level. But also like the Drug Count tool, the Formulary Review Suite's results are based on particular drug lists, so every plan that uses a particular Drug List will have the same results. That's because the restrictions applied to each drug are part of the drug list. These restrictions do not differ by plan.

Here's an example of a carrier's drug list (part of the Rx Drug Template) that we looked at regarding the Drug Count tool:



A	L	$\times \checkmark$	f _X Drug Lists			
	А		в	с		D
1	Drug Lists	All	fields with an asteri	sk (*) are required. To	validate the templ	ate, press the
2	-	Clie	ck the Create Form	lary IDs button (or Ctrl	+ Shift + C) to cr	eate Formular
3	Add Dava Li	Aft	er creating Formula	y IDs, select the ID fro	m the drop down i	n Column A a
4	Add Drug Li	Se	lect how many tiers	a formulary uses from I	Number of Tiers a	nd unused row
5	Remove Drug	List En	ter all RXCUIs on th	e Drug Lists sheet. To	add more drug lisi	ts. click Add L
6				Drug List ID	1	
	DXCIII*		Tior Lovel*	Prior Authorizati	ion Step]	Therapy
7	IXCOI			Required	Req	juired
	Required	: Sel	Required: lect the Tier this drug is	Required if Tier Lev in not NA:	el is Required if	Tier Level is
	Enter the RX	CUI or s	select NA if this drug is r	not Select "Yes" if Prio	r Select "Yes"	if Step Therapy
8			a part of this Drug List	Authorization is Requ	ired is Re	quired
693	206739	1		No	No	
694	206750	1		No	No	
695	206791	1		No	No	
696	206792	1		No	No	
697	206831	4		No	No	
698	206842	1		INO	No	
699	206860	1		No	No	
700	206905	1		No	No	
701	206913	1		No	No	
702	206917			INU	No	
703	206977	1		Yes	No	
704	206986	4		No	INO	
705	206987	4		No	No	
706	206994	1		NO	NO	
/0/	206997	1		NO	NO	
708	207029	2		NO	NO	
709	207035	2		Vee	No	
711	207052	2		res	res	
711	207039	2		No	No	
712	207000	1		No	No	
713	207132	1		No	Yes	
714	207166	1		No	No	
716	207167	1		No	No	
717	207169	1		No	No	
718	207170	1		No	No	
719	207171	1		No	No	
720	207172	1		No	No	
	< → For	mulary Tiers	Drug Lists	(+)		

For each drug, the carrier identifies on the drug list whether that drug has a preauthorization requirement, and whether it has a step therapy requirement. Here, you can see that drug 206977 requires prior authorization, but not step therapy (yellow circle). Drug 207052 requires both prior authorization and step therapy (green circle).

Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool

The Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool ("Clinical Appropriateness Tool") analyzes formularies to determine whether they are designed in a way that discourages those with certain health conditions from enrolling in plans using that formulary. The ACA prohibits discrimination on the basis of health status.

The Clinical Appropriateness Tool analyzes formularies in a different way than the Formulary Outlier Tool. The Clinical Appropriateness Tool is programmed to look at the coverage of drugs used to treat 10 different chronic diseases, each of which can result in large claims under a plan.



For Plan Year 2020, those diseases are: bipolar disorder, breast cancer, diabetes, hepatitis C, HIV, multiple sclerosis, opioid use disorder, prostate cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, and schizophrenia.

For each disease, HHS clinicians have determined a threshold number of drugs in each applicable class that a formulary would need to cover in order to be found not to discriminate against people with that disease. For example, the clinicians determined that a formulary would not discriminate against those with bipolar disorder if it covers at least 4 antidepressants, 4 mood stabilizers, and 7 second-generation antipsychotic drugs.

Because it measures formularies against preset clinical thresholds, you can run this Tool on a single Drug List, or a single carrier's portfolio of plans, and obtain meaningful results.

Instructions Tab

The Instructions tab guides the user of the Formulary Review Suite to input the data to be analyzed. It is a great deal like the Instructions tab of the Drug Count Tool. Like that Tool, the Formulary Review Suite has data boxes that must be completed. (See red arrows in the screen shot below.)



Use not b Use refer respo Use certif on th webs Issue their	of tool nods for be identi of tool rence th bond to a of these fication he FFE c	(2020 Version 1.0 - DRAFT) by state regulators is optional. States may use any tools or parts of tools they believe will assist in their review pro- reviewing for compliance with specific standards. Any aternative state review methods must be consistent with federe cal to the approach methods via these tools. by issuers is optional lassuers are encouraged to use these tools proactively before submitting their OHP applications em when a state or federal regulator requests corrections after a review that relied on these tools. However, please no my deficiencies identified by a state or federal regulator even if an identified issue is different than the results obtained use to tools by CMS and states. CMS plans to use these tools in Federally-Facilitated Exchances (FFEs) for those standa	cess. These tools are al standards, but need and can also te that issuers must sing these tools.										
Use method not b Use refer respo Use certif on th webs Issue their	of tool nods for be identi- rence the bond to a of these iffication he FF c	by state regulators is optional. States may use any tools or parts of tools they believe will assist in their review pro- reviewing for compliance with specific standards. Any atternative state review methods must be consistent with feders cal to the approach methods via these tools. By issuers is optional, issuers are encouraged to use these tools proactively before submitting their OHP applications em when a state or federal regulator requests corrections after a review that relied on these tools. However, please no ny deficiencies identified by a state or federal regulator even if an identified issue is different than the results obtained u se tools by CMS and states. CMS plans to use these tools in Federally-Facilitated Exchances (FFEs) for those standa	cess. These tools are al standards, but need and can also te that issuers must sing these tools.										
Use refer respo certif on th webs Issue their	of tool rence th ond to a of thes ification	by issuers is optional, issuers are encouraged to use these tools proactively before submitting the CHP applications em when a state or federal regulator requests corrections after a review that relied on these tools. However, please no my deficiencies identified by a state or federal regulator even if an identified issue is different than the results obtained use tools by CMS and states. CMS plans to use these tools in Federaliv-Facilitated Exchances (FFEs) for those standa	and can also te that issuers must sing these tools.										
Use certif on the webs Issue their	of thes ification	e tools by CMS and states. CMS plans to use these tools in Federally-Facilitated Exchanges (FFEs) for those standa											
Issue their	annoance of wires, this includes certification standards, please see the "2020 Letter to issuers in the Federally-facilitated Small bulkness Headan (ptools Program (FF-SHOP). For more he FFC certification process and related standards, please see the "2020 Letter to issuers in the Federally-facilitated Exchanges" available bate under Regulations and Suidance. Lets in states performing plan management functions may contact their state regulator to determine if one or more of these review tools will review processes. CMS will review and confirm the state's CMP certification recommendations and make final QIP certification decisions												
work	ers in st review k closely	ales performing plan management functions may contact their state regulator to determine if one or more of these review processes. Class will review and confirm the state's QHP conflication recommendations and make final QHP certification with states that are performing plan management functions to coordinate this process.	tools will be part of decisions. CMS will										
		Please double click on the cell below. Formulary Review Suite Instructions to activate a hyperink to the suite instruc- link to access the Formulary Review Suite Instructions that details how to use this review tool and provides detaile different components of the tool.	ctions. Then use the d guidance about the										
1	1.	Note: The review instructions can also be found in the main folder that is downloaded with the Formulary Review Suite. Formulary Review Suite instructions C Double-click to create hyperlink for instructions. This tool contains two distinct reviews. For a datalied description of each review and their respective results please select one of the links Non-Discrimination_Formulary Outline Output Descriptions Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Description											
		International minimum comparison of the second seco											
		If your submissions include separate RX templates for the Individual and SHOP marketplaces, please select Yes or No from the selection hox to the right											
:	2.	In on the selection box to the right. In states that collect templates in SERFF, issuers may submit separate sets of templates for individual and SHOP plans. In this case an issuer can submit two drug lists with the same HIOS issuer ID and Drug List ID pair (one for the individual marketplace and one for the SHOP marketplace). In order for this tool to distinguish between two drug lists, you will need to indicate that you have separate individual and SHOP RX Templates using the set, no box to the right.	Do you have separate Individual and SHOP Prescription Drug Templates?										
		Note: If the user selects Yes from the selection box to the right, then the user must save all RX templates with either "IndTemo" or "SHOPTemo" in the file name or else the tool will not run.	No										
		seniet the state centry review west to the right. If you are reviewing a multi-state plan using entrier the ELES standard Option of the BCBS Basic Option as its EHB-benchmark plan, select either OPM-1, OPM-2, or OPM-3 at the bottom of the list.	State Selection										
	3.	Note: The Formulary Review Suite does not require the state selection in templates to match the state selection the suite. The suite can run templates from multiple states simultaneously. If a user chooses to run the Non- Discrimination Formulary Outlier review AND calculate state outlier thresholds, then all RX and P&B template data must opionate from the same state.											
		Optional Step: Would you like to import Plans & Benefits (P&B) data and RX template data from a Master Review Tool? Importing P&B and RX data will allow the user to ivery summary level results for each review at the plan level. Importing P&B data will also enable users to remove unused drug lists and calculate state outliet thresholds (When sufficient RX data is available), if the user choices to run the Ion-Discrimitation Formulary Outline and the RB and RX data is available), if the user choices to run the Ion-Discrimitation Formulary Outline and the RB and RX data be included in the results.	Do you wish to import Master Review Tool data?										
4	4.	Note: The Formulary Review Suite will import P&B data for plans that are offered both on and off the exchanges as well as plans that will only be available off the exchange.											
		Press the Import Data from Master Review Tool button below to import data from a Master Review Tool, which can be downloaded from the CMS website.											
		Import Data from Master Review Tool											
-		Users have the option to run multiple formulary reviews at once or run each review separately. Please , ct ves or No from the selection box to the right. If Yes is selected all reviews contained within the Formulary Review , site will be run. If No is selected, the user will be able to choose the individual review(s) they would like the tool to per	Do you wish to run all formulary reviews together?										
	5.	To run the Formulary Review Suite, click on the Run Formulary Review Suite button below. After this button is preview(s) the user selected will be performed.	essed, the formulary										
		Run Formulary Review Suite											
		WARDING: The Formulary Neview Suite may take several minutes to run depending on the amount of data that has to well have that the tool has finished processing when a message box appears notifying you of a completer run. After products the amount of the finite that when a not set of the products. Using other filters for the products may be a the filter and the filter filter.	b be processed. You ssing the <i>Run</i> ay cause the tool to										
	6.	Use the selection menu to the right to export the results of the Formulary Review Suite. The results will be exported to a separate Excel file, which the user can then save for his or her records.	Would you like to export the Formulary										
		Note: If the user selects Yes, a button will appear below to perform the export process.	Review Suite Results? No										
-	7.	I o clear the data from all worksheets in the Formulary Review Suite, press the Clear All Data button below.											
		Clear All Data											

The data that must be input includes information about whether the RX Drug Templates include separate individual and small group templates, and the state in which the plans are to be sold. If the data includes separate individual and small group RX Drug Templates, the Tool will display the results for each separately. The state must be specified so that the Tool uses the correct thresholds. (Washington has traditionally used the default thresholds pre-loaded into the Tool.)



Although OIC does not use this feature, the Tool is able to run the review against multiple state thresholds at once. OIC does not use the "Would you like to export the Formulary Review Suite results" box.

When the person running the Tool clicks on these boxes, a dropdown menu of choices appears. These boxes must be completed or the Tool will not run (a warning appears, reminding the user to input the data).

The Plans and Benefits data must be imported into the Drug Count Tool from the Master Review Tool by clicking on the big green "Import Data from Master Review Tool" button. This allows the Tools to display results for each plan, and also to remove any unused drug lists from the result. The user clicks on the button, and a dialog box opens asking the user to click on the folder containing the Master Review Tool data. The Tool then imports that data.

The third dialog box on the Instructions tab asks, "Do you wish to run all formulary reviews together?" (See purple arrow in screen shot, above). Carriers should answer "No" to this question, because the Formulary Outlier Review Tool will not return meaningful results when run on only one carrier's formularies. When the user clicks "No", a dialog box appears (see screen shot, below). Carriers should click the radio button next to "Clinical Appropriateness."



Next, the user clicks on the "Run Formulary Review Suite" button. A dialog box opens asking the user whether they want to adjust the thresholds or use the default thresholds. OIC asks carriers to click on "Default Thresholds".



e or run each review separately. Please select Yes or iews contained within the Formulary Review Suite e individual review(s) they would like the tool to perform.	Do you wish to run all formulary reviews together?	×	
Ilary Review Suite button below. After this button is pr	essed, the formulary		
inutes to run depending on the amount of data that has to ie box appears notifying you of a complete run. After pre Office products. Using other Microsoft Office products m	be processed ssing the <i>Run</i> by cause the to thre	IId you like to adjust the Non-Discrimination Clinica ropriateness Review thresholds or use the default sholds?	I
Office products. Using other Microsoft Office products m	Would you export	ි Adjust Thresholds	
	Review 1	• Default Thresholds	
rform the export process.	No		
rform the export process. w Suite, press the Clear All Data button below.	No		

The Tool then prompts the user to select the folder in which the Prescription Drug Templates are stored. Once that is done, the Tool runs. When run on only one carrier's data, the Tool takes about 15 seconds to run. The results will automatically be shown when the Tool has completed, taking the user to the "Plan Summary" tab. But we will discuss the tabs in order.

Output Descriptions Tab

The Output Descriptions tab describes what each tool does, and gives a brief description of the information found on the results tabs. This tab is a resource for the user to understand what the results mean and can be helpful in troubleshooting issues.



A	1	\cdot : $\times \checkmark f_x$
- 4	в	C D E F G H
2		Description of Issuer & Plan Results
3	1	Izraer 5 Israel softward and in the found and the 'Dorse' 5 Israe sort' 'unrichest. The cheet diploy the association commony review result for each familary ID that the vite processes and identifier the familary ID that do not part the intended reviewing?.
	2	Plan Samanary: Waa Plane & Bouefay (PB2) on Plane (B2) in an Unit of the firm of Marter Review Tani (PB3) but be compared, dub (PS-Samanary - Unit Activat preference in a socialization of the socialization render for each plan the other review and identifier the restander dampared (Barthard and each plane).
4		Nates Inputing PB and RE At strans PRF 201 all allow to zink to an and straight marks accords and the The Data Data Data Data Data Data Data Dat
5	3	fram a MMR has bassingents 4000 may plan soviaux data rantmast the requirements of the revise(2) performed. In the Flan Berazit ² , transhast sprasses the lashing to ensure on the revise of the revise(2) performed. This are the lashing to the revise of the revise
6		Description of the Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Review
7	1.	The " <i>Communicate Onethine's Summary</i> " - uncludence which have an interactive. The caracter area such east earry and edura have increasing and the interactive end engine. It has many the contractive, the caracter area such east earry ease aff armonity of ultractive and the anticipation of the contractive ends, when exercise and another anticipation of the contractive ends of the anticipation of the contractive ends and the contractive and another anticipation of the contractive ends of the anticipation of the contractive ends and the contractive another anticipation of the contractive ends of the anticipation of the contractive ends and the contractive and anticipation of the contractive ends of the anticipation of the contractive ends and the contractive and anticipation of the contractive ends of the anticipation of the contractive ends of the contractive.
		The "Formalery Outlier Details" unlehood diploys the convergenceulur of the revious for each chemically distinct drug in the entequier and clarar being revisaued. For soch drug list, soch chemically distinct drug in the
	2.	 a) Assessment The drug (the star and teaching ABCUP are existed with the channel edg detainst drug and all provided and the star and teaching ABCUP are existed with the channel edg detainst drug and all provided and the star and teaching are provided and the star and teaching are provided and the advection of the star and teaching are provided and teaching are provided and teaching are provided and teaching are provided and teachi
*		The total number of chamically distinct drugs that are covered and the total that are sumericited are counted and dirplayed.
9		Description of the Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Review
10	1.	The 'Officient Stammary' interlocat displays the second interlocation of the text which are confer the interlocation of the interlocati
11	18.	Pengenatypic drawp inclade: Mayret (diceprevir):pikrenturir/R10U1: 1940709), Epclara (safarbuvir; volpetarvir/R10U1: 199212; 199213), and Tarxiv (safarbuvir, volpetarvir/R10U1: 199325). Harr 2 pengenatypic drawpi incleda: Zepatric (la miry i argenvir/R10U1: 194422), Volkie Pek (ritensvir): and harvir; perkeprevir): deathuvir/R10U1: 1997380), Saveldi (safarbuvir/R10U1: 194422), and Harveni (safarbuvir/R10U1: 195424).
		The "Official Details" carline displays the ravile of the raviou for each drug in the conditions and classer being ravioused. For each drug int, each drug is either:
12	2.	 a) Normove/The drug life data suit catch this no PROUP wave since durit this tops of the drug as all PROUP wave suits Provide data suits that this is the strain of the drug as all PROUP wave suits Provide data suits and the provide data this tops of the drug as all PROUP wave suits Provide data suits and the provide data this provide data this provide data suits and the provide data
13		Description of the All RXCUIs Submitted Report
14		The 'All RECUL 's schnitted' undrhave tyrmolder an avarvisu of RECUL' included in the formulary antiliar and clinical sprografic tazarreliae that may an any antile avareze a na intrane? practical lines due to any lanes (for each lines and dura for all formular the formular and formular the conclusion should be any end to any any any any and the solution and the angle and the solution and dura for all formula the articles and the articles and the solution and the angle articles and the angle and the articles and the artin articles and the articles and the a
	1.	The results risks "One segregized white Star Impact sharts" relement that the foresearch to the early Olary ID and Conditions Text ID from dash the "means of the Impact Text ID and Text ID and Conditions Text ID enterprise and cleares or conditions and text that a particular RBOUT affects.
	4	Hates Additional RXXIII details have been added for non-retrieved values. The search address details
	1	insulations output bescriptions issuer summary Plan summary Clinical summary Clinical Details All RACOIS Submitted (+)

Issuer Summary Tab

The Issuer Summary tab is a high-level results tab. It shows the results for both Tools within the Formulary Review Suite (when both Tools are run). At the top, it has an Executive Summary field where it shows how many issuers had drug lists that failed the reviews. (See red arrow in screen shot below.) To "fail" the Clinical Appropriateness review means that a carrier has a drug list that covers fewer than the threshold number of drugs for one of the conditions analyzed. There is more information about both of these results in the discussions of each particular test, below.



C5	-	$: \times$	$\checkmark f_x$	38498							
A	в	С	E		F		н		1		
2		-			Executive Summary:	0 Is:	suers Failed				
3	Issue	er Data	Fo	rmulary Da	ata	Clinical App	ropriateness Rev	view			
4	State	issuer ID 🗸	Formula ID	ary Di 👻	rug List ID 🔻		Met	-			
5	WA	38498	WAF00	01	1		Met				
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 31 32 33 4 35 36 37 8 39 40 41 42 43	WA WA	38498 38498	WAF0(WAF0(2	1		Met Met				
44											
40	•	Instructions	Outpu	t Descriptio	ons Issu	ier Summary	Plan Summary	Clir	nical Summary	Clinical Details	All RXCUIs Submitted

Since carriers to run this Tool themselves on their own formularies, the results you will usually see will be those for only one carrier's formularies. That means that the results in this field will be only a "0" or a "1". Either the carrier had one or more drug lists that failed the review, or it did not. The screen shot above shows results for the Suite run on one issuer. Only if the Suite is run on multiple issuers will the numbers be different.

The green "Issuer Data" columns on the left show which issuer's formularies are being analyzed. The carrier is represented by its HIOS Issuer ID (red circle). The results are provided on this tab for each formulary analyzed, and the tab shows which drug list each formulary uses (purple columns).

Note that the Executive Summary in the screen shot above shows that this carrier's formularies passed the Clinical Appropriateness Tool (red arrow). If the results on this high-level tab show



that all of the carrier's formularies passed the Tool, that is all you need to know. However, if the results show that one or more formularies failed the Tools, you need more information.

Like the Drug Count Tool, all plans that use the same drug list will have the same result on the Clinical Appropriateness Tool. That's because the data reviewed by this Tool is all contained in the drug list. That data is: drug name, drug tier, and whether the drug is subject to prior authorization or step therapy requirements.

The yellow column to the far right shows the results of the Non-Discrimination Clinical Appropriateness Tool. "Not Met" in this column means that a particular formulary does not meet the threshold for coverage of drugs for one or more of the diseases tested.

Plan Summary Tab

The Plan Summary tab is very similar to the Issuer Summary tab, but provides additional information.



On this tab, the green "Issuer Data" columns include everything in those columns on the Issuer Summary tab. In addition, these columns on the Plan Summary tab show the Standard Component ID (also called a SCID, or HIOS plan ID) (red circle) and plan marketing name (purple circle) of each plan. These columns also include the metal level of each plan (yellow circle).



The purple "Formulary Data" columns also contain the same information as those columns on the Issuer Summary tab. But in addition, these columns on the Plan Summary tab also include the number of drug tiers for each plan's formulary (green circle).

Like the Issuer Summary tab, this tab tells you everything you need to know when, as with the result above, every plan has passed both tools. But if any plans failed, then we need more information.

In the screen shot above, the Executive Summary shows that this carrier's drug list failed the Clinical Appropriateness Tool (red arrow). That means we need to do further review.

Plan Details Tab

The Plan Details tab includes detailed information about each deficiency flagged by the Tool. It begins with 5 green columns giving details about the plan where the deficiency occurs (red circle). The details are: state, issuer ID, Standard Component ID (HIOS plan ID), plan marketing name, and metal level. If a plan shows more than one deficiency, each deficiency found in that plan will be listed on a separate row because detailed information is given about each deficiency. That means you may see the same plan listed on more than one row (purple circles).

R9		* E 2	$\langle \sqrt{f_x} \rangle$													
	4 В	0	E		G		н	1	J	ĸ	:	L		М	N	0
2									Def lency les its:	-			Fo	rmulary Outlier De al Appropriatenes:	ficiencies: 0 s Deficiencies: 1	0
3			issue	er Data				Formulary Data						Detailed Deficient	v Results	
4	State	Issuer ID	Standard Component IE	Plan Marketing	g Name 🚽 Metal Level	F	ormulary ID 👻	Number of Drug Tiers	C ug Lis	Review	Flagged 🚽	Category; C	Class or	Requiremen	Drug Count & Threshold	🗸 Deficiency Message 🚽
5	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Ind and Family Netwo	ividual Gold 'k		WAF001	7	1	Clinical Appropriat	iess	Breast Cancer c Alkylating Agent 4)	condition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	The drug list associated with this plan covers 0 drug(s) in the Breast Cancer condition; Akylating Agents class. The minimum usehold for this drug class is 1. Please mo. Ty the drug list associated with this plan to m et or exceed this requirement, or submit an a promite lustification
6	WA	69364	69364WA1220007	Gold 1000 EPO Ind and Family Networ	ividual Gold	,	WAF001	7	1	Clinical Appropriate	ness	Prostate Cancer Alkylating Agent 42)	condition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	The rug list associated with this plan covers 0 rug(s) in the Prostate Cancer condition; kylating Agents class. The minimum threshold for this drug class is 1. Please modify the drug list associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit an appropriate lustification.
7	WA	69364	69364WA1220.08	Silver 3000 EPO In and Family Networ	dividual rk Silver	,	WAF002	7	1	linical ppropriate	48	Breast Cancer c Alkylating Agent 4)	condition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	The drug list associated with this plan covers 0 drug(s) in the Breast Cancer condition; Akylating Agents class. The minimum threshold for this drug class is 1. Please Odify the drug list associated with this plan to need or exceed this requirement, or submt an oncontribute lustification
8	WA	69364	69364WA122 08	Silver 3000 EPO In and Family Networ	dividual rk	,	WAF002	7	1	linical ppropriate	nes.	Prostate Cancer Alkylating Agent 42)	condition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	Th drug ist associated with this plan covers 0 rug(s) in the Prostate Cancer condition; Avjating Agents class. The minimum threshold for this drug class is 1. Please modify the drug list associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit an appropriate lustification.
9	WA	69364	69364WA1220005	Silver HSA 2500 E Individual and Fam Network	PO ily Silver	,	WAF003	7	1	linical oppropriate	ness	Breast Cancer c Alkylating Agent 4)	condition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	The drug list associated with this plan covers 0 drug(s) in the Breast Cancer condition; Akylating Agents class. The minimum threshold for this drug class is 1. Please modify the discussion with this plan to m usor exceed this requirement, submt an appropriate lustification.
10	WA	69364	69364WA1220005	Silver HSA 2500 E Individual and Fam Network	PO ily Silver	,	WAF003	7	1	Clinical Appropriate	ness	Prostate Cancer Alkylating Agent 42)	condition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	The drug list associated with this plan cove o drug(s) in the Prostate Cancer condition; Akylating Agents class. The minimum threshold for this drug class is 1. Please modify the drug list associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or subr- appropriate lustification.
11	WA	69364	69364WA1220006	Bronze HSA 5000 Individual and Fam Network	EPO iy Bronze	,	WAF004	7	1	Clinical Appropriate	nes.	Breast Cancer c Alkylating Agent 4)	ondition; s class (ID:	Covered	0 out of 1	The up ist associated with this pl-covers of drug (5) where the condition; by lating Agents class. The minimum inschold for this drug class is 1. Please modify the drug lat associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit an appropriate lustification.
	WA	69364	69364WA1220006	Bronze HSA 5000	EPO		WAE004	7	\mathbf{V}	Clinical		Prostate Cancer	condition;	Covered	0 out of 1	The drug list associated with this plan covers 0 drug(s) in the Prostate Cancer condition; Alkylating Agents class. The minimum threehold for this drug classe is 1 places
	< •	Instruct	tions Output D	escriptions	Issuer Summary	Plan Su	ummary	Plan Details	Clinical Su	ummary	Clinical	Details A	II RXCUIS SU	ubmitted (÷ : •	

Next, the tab includes 3 purple columns which provide information about the formulary for that plan, including the Formulary ID, number of drug tiers, and drug list ID (green circle). The drug list ID is important because the information analyzed by this Tool is all contained on the drug list being analyzed. That means that the results for each drug list will be the same. Therefore, if a



carrier uses only one drug list, the deficiencies for each plan will be the same. For example, our sample result in the screen shot shows plans that all use drug list 1 (yellow circle). Therefore, you will notice that the same two deficiencies are shown for each plan (blue circles).

The blue columns show the results of the Tool's analysis of the formularies. At the top is an executive summary (red arrow) which will show the overall results of the Review Suite Tools that were run. The first blue column tells which Tool showed the particular result. (In the sample results, we did not run the Formulary Outlier Tool.) The next blue column to the right lists the particular tested condition, and the Category Class of drugs the Tool shows is deficient. The third blue column shows the requirement to cover drugs in that particular Category Class. (If there is a requirement to cover drugs in this Category Class without restriction, this column will read "Covered, unrestricted".)

The next column to the right shows the number of deficiencies in the formulary being analyzed, by listing the number of covered drugs, and the threshold requirement. In this sample, we see that the threshold for coverage of drugs in the "Alkylating Agents" Class for treatment of breast cancer is 1. However, the formulary being tested does not cover any drugs in this Class (green circle).

The far right column, "Deficiency Message", contains information that specifically explains the deficiency, and tells the carrier what to do to address the deficiency. For example, the formulary for the "Silver HSA 2500 EPO Individual and Family Network" plan, WAF003, does not contain a drug in the "Alkylating Agents" class for treatment of prostate cancer, but the threshold to pass the Tool is one drug in this Class for this disease. So the deficiency message instructs the carrier to either add a drug in this Class to meet the requirement, or submit a justification explaining why the formulary is not discriminatory to those with prostate cancer, despite not meeting the requirement (orange circle).

Each of the tabs reviewed so far pertain to both Tools in the Formulary Review Suite. The next tabs discussed apply to only one of the two Tools. We will first look at the tabs that apply only to the Clinical Appropriateness Tool, since that is the Tool carriers will run on their formularies. The final tab, the "All RxCUIs Submitted" tab, again applies to both Tools and will be discussed, as relevant, in the sections for both Tools.

Clinical Summary Tab

The Clinical Summary tab includes an executive summary at the top showing the overall results (red arrow in screen shot below). The results are labeled by the Tool used. The first result shows how many drug lists failed one or more tests (blue arrow), and the second result shows how many tests were not met (green arrow).



F5	• :	$\times \checkmark f_x$								
		0								
1							_		1. A.	-
	В	С	D		E			G	н	1
		_			Clin	nical	1 List Not Mat	30 Tosts	Not Met	
3					Appropriatein	ess sult	7 Else Not met	50 76323	not met	
			Conditio				69364 Drug	List 1 Test		
	Condition	Test Description	Test ID		Threshold Select	ed	Lists	Count	List 1 Result	
4	*	Courses of druce in the Antidemenants close	4	-		-	Y	•	Vicé Maré	
6	D : 1 D : 1	Coverage of drugs in the Antidepressants class. Coverage of drugs in the Mood Stabilizers class.	2		4			1	Not Met	
-	Bipolar Disorder	Coverage of drugs in the Second Generation	3		7			1	Not Mot	
7		Antipsychotics class.	3		1			,	Not Met	
9		Coverage of drugs in the Antimetabolites class	4		1			0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Aromatase Inhibitors	6		1			0	Not Met	
10		class.	v	_		_		v	notmet	
11	Breast Cancer	cloverage of drugs in the Folic Acid Metabolites class.	7		1			0	Not Met	
12		Coverage of drugs in the Miscellaneous class.	8		1			1	Met	
12		Coverage of drugs in the Selective Estrogen	9		1			0	Not Met	
13		Coverage of drugs in the Targeted Therapy								
14		Inhibitors: Kinase and PARP class.	10		1			1	Met	
16		Coverage of drugs in the Alpha Glucosidase	11		1			0	Not Met	
13		Coverage of drugs in the Biguanide class								
		(Metformin) without prior authorization or step	12		1			0	Not Met	
16		therapy (unrestricted). Coverage of drugs in the Diportidul Pentidens 4								
17		(DPP-4) Inhibitors class.	13		1			4	Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Glucagon-Like Peptide-	14		1			1	Met	
18		1 (GLP-1) Receptor Agonists class.		_		_				
		without prior authorization or step therapy	15					0	Not Met	
19	Diabetes	(unrestricted).			\sim					
		Coverage of drugs in the Insulin - Prandials class without prior authorization or step therapy	16		1			0	Not Met	
20		(unrestricted).	10					, in the second s	normer	
21		Coverage of drugs in the Meglitinides class.	17		1			0	Not Met	
22		Coverage of drugs in the Miscellaneous class.	18		1			0	Not Met	
23		Transporter 2 (SGLT2) Inhibitors class.	19		1			2	Met	
24		Coverage of drugs in the Sulfonylureas (2nd	20		1			0	Not Met	
24		Coverage of drugs in the Thiazolidinediones								
25		class.	21		1			0	Not Met	
26		Coverage of drugs in the Non-Pangenotypic	22		1			1	Met	
	Henatitis C	Coverage of drugs in the Pangenotypic Direct	23		1			0	Not Met	
27	nepatus C	Acting Antivirals (DAA) class.	23		1			0	Not Wet	
28		coverage of drugs in the Nucleoside Analogs class.	24		1			1	Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Combination Drugs	25		4			2	Not Met	
29		class. Coverage of drugs in the Integrase Strand								
30		Transfer Inhibitors class.	26		1			2	Met	
		er Summary Plan Summary Plan I	Details	Clin	ical Summary	C	inical Details	Errors	All RXCUIs Subm	nitted
					,					

This particular executive summary shows that the drug list analyzed failed some of the tests (green arrow). If the executive summary had showed that the carrier's drug list(s) met all the thresholds in the Clinical Appropriateness Tool, then just like the high-level summaries seen in the other Electronic Review Tools, this Clinical Summary tab would tell us all we need to know - no further review would be needed.

The first three blue columns show how the results are organized. The Condition column to the far left shows each of the 10 chronic diseases for which thresholds are programmed into the Tool. The next column, "Test Description", lists the drug classes that are used to treat each disease. The third blue column is similar to the Category Class ID column in the Drug Count



Tool. It's merely a number used to denote the combination of condition and class of drugs used to treat that condition.

Note that the "Test Description" column sometimes includes the notation "(unrestricted)", and sometimes does not. In the screen shot above, see yellow highlighted row, which includes (unrestricted) in the Test Description, and the green highlighted area, which does not. This notation, where it appears, means that only drugs with no prior authorization or step therapy requirements count toward the threshold. Where this notation does not appear, any covered drugs count toward the threshold.

The purple column is the "Threshold Selected", which shows the number of drugs in each Class that the HHS clinical experts determined a formulary must cover in order not to discriminate against people with the tested condition. For example, look at the yellow-highlighted row. The Threshold Selected is 1 (red circle). This row means that HHS's clinical experts determined that, in order not to discriminate against diabetics, a formulary must cover at least 1 drug for diabetes in the Insulin – Basals Class without restriction.

Which brings us to the next set of columns, which are the green results columns. The first green column identifies the carrier (this column is really intended for when the Tool is run on multiple carriers' formularies). The next column shows the count of covered drugs in the relevant Class on the drug list being analyzed. If the count meets or exceeds the threshold, this number will be in regular, black font. If the count does not meet the threshold, the number will be in bold, red font. The far right column shows the result, either the threshold was "Met" or "Not Met". A "Not Met" result appears in bold, red font and highlighted.

Clinical Details Tab

The Clinical Details tab shows how each drug in each tested Class is covered. This tab, like the detailed results tabs in the Drug Count Tool, can be used to determine the changes a carrier needs to make to meet a failed test.

The first two blue columns show the tested conditions, and the Classes of drugs for each condition. The blue "Drug Name" column to the right of those is a list of each drug included in the Class being tested. These blue columns are followed by the results for the drug lists being tested.

The Clinical Details tab must be read in conjunction with the Clinical Summary tab, because the Clinical Details tab flags all restrictions and does not flag failed results. You will really only need the information on the Clinical Details tab that pertains to any failed results on the Clinical Summary tab.

Remember that the Test Description column on the Clinical Summary tab included some Classes in which drugs must be covered without restriction, and some Classes whose thresholds could be met even if the drugs were covered with restrictions. The Clinical Details tab shows *all*



restrictions and uncovered drugs in bold, red font so they are easy to see. Unlike bold, red font on other tabs, on this tab bold, red font does not mean an error or deficiency. To see where errors occurred, you need to look at the Clinical Summary tab. (See end of this "Clinical Details tab" section for an example.)

Let's look at these two tabs from a carrier's result to see how they work together. Below is a sample Clinical Summary tab from a result in which the carrier's drug list met all but two of the tests in the Clinical Appropriateness Tool.

F5	* :	Xv	f _x											
1														
2								· ·						
#	В		C		D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	1
						Appropriateness	1 List Not Met	2 Tests N	lot Met					
3						Decult								
	Condition		Test Description		Condition	Throphold Solostod	69364 Drug	List 1 Test	List & Docult					
	Condition		reactocacription	-	Test ID		Lists	Count		1				
5		Coverage of	of drugs in the Antidepressants	class.	1	4		4	Met	1				
6	Bipolar Disorder	Coverage of	of drugs in the Mood Stabilizers	class.	2	4		5	Met					
-		Coverage of	of drugs in the Second Generati	ion	3	7		9	Met					
8		Coverage of	of drugs in the Alkylating Agents	s	4	1		0	Not Met					
9		Coverage of	of drugs in the Antimetabolites c	class.	5	1		1	Met					
10		Coverage of	of drugs in the Aromatase Inhibi	tors	6	1		3	Met					
10		Coverage of	of drugs in the Folic Acid Metabo	olites	7	4		4	Mat					
11	Breast Cancer	class.			1			1	Met					
12		Coverage (of drugs in the Miscellaneous cli of drugs in the Selective Estrong	ass. en	8	1		6	Met					
13		Receptor N	Iodulators (SERM) class.	511	9	1		3	Met					
4.4		Coverage of	of drugs in the Targeted Therap	У	10	1		3	Met					
14		Coverage (nase and PARP class.	se				-						
15		Inhibitors c	lass.		11	1		2	Met					
		Coverage of	of drugs in the Biguanide class		10	4		4	Mat					
16		therapy (ur	restricted).	step	12	1			mer					
		Coverage of	of drugs in the Dipeptidyl Peptida	ase 4	13	1		4	Met					
17		(DPP-4) Inh Coverage (libitors class. of drugs in the Glucagon-Like Pe	entide-										
18		1 (GLP-1) F	Receptor Agonists class.	opildo-	14	1		5	Met					
		Coverage of	of drugs in the Insulin - Basals c	lass	15	4		-	Mat					
19	Diabetes	(unrestricte	or authorization or step therapy ed)		15	1		5	mer					
		Coverage of	of drugs in the Insulin - Prandials	s class				-						
20		without pric	or authorization or step therapy		16	1		2	Met					
21		Coverage	of drugs in the Meglitinides class	s.	17	1		2	Met					
22		Coverage of	of drugs in the Miscellaneous cla	ass.	18	1		2	Met					
23		Coverage of Transporte	of drugs in the Sodium Glucose ir 2 (SGLT2) Inhibitors class	Co-	19	1		3	Met					
		Coverage	of drugs in the Sulfonylureas (2)	nd	20	1		3	Met					
24		Generation) class.		20			3	mot					
25		class.	or drugs in the rmazolidinedione	:5	21	1		1	Met					
		Coverage of	of drugs in the Non-Pangenotypi	ic	22	1		5	Met	1				
26		Direct Actir	ng Antivirals (DAA) class. of drugs in the Pangenotypic Dir	rect										
27	Hepatitis C	Acting Anti	ivirals (DAA) class.		23	1		2	Met					
28		Coverage of	of drugs in the Nucleoside Analo	ogs	24	1		1	Met					
20		Coverage (of drugs in the Combination Drug	gs	25	4		14	Mat	1				
29		class.			25	4		14	met					
30		Transfer In	or arugs in the integrase Strand hibitors class.		26	1		2	Met					
	l Inst	tructions	Output Descriptions	Issuer	Summary	Plan Summary	Plan Details	Clinical Sum	mary Clini	cal Details	All I	RXCUIs :	Submit	tted

Now we will look at the Clinical Details tab from that same result (screen shot below). As discussed, all restrictions and uncovered drugs in the tested Classes are shown in bold, red font.

For example, look at the yellow highlighted row. This shows this formulary's coverage of second-generation antipsychotics for treatment of bipolar disorder. The result shows that the formulary covers a total of 9 drugs in this class (purple arrows), and covers 6 of those drugs



without restrictions (green arrows). The formulary covers three drugs in this Class with a prior authorization requirement (reflected by "PA" in bold, red font in the "List 1 coverage" column).

1	×	$\checkmark f_x$											
1					E.								
2						· ·							
14	4 В	С		D	E	F	G	H	1	J	K		L
							1	 					
	Condition	Class	1)rug Name	69364 Drug	List 1							
	condition	Ciass –	1 2	Jug name	Lists	Coverage							
3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	+	Duranaina	·	Ť	Uncentristed		 					
4			Bupropion			Unrestricted							
6			Paroxetine			Unrestricted							
7		Antidepressants	Tranylcypron	nine		Unrestricted							
8			Covered Co	ount		4	1						
9			Unrestricte	d Count		4	1						
10			Carbamazep	ne		Unrestricted							
11			Lamotrigine			Unrestricted							
12		Mood Stabilizers	Lithium			Unrestricted							
14		wood stabilizers	Valoroate	ne		Unrestricted							
15			Covered Co	ount		5	1						
16	Bipolar Disorder		Unrestricte	d Count		5							
17			Aripiprazole			Unrestricted	1						
18			Asenapine			PA							
19			Cariprazine			PA							
20			Clozapine			Unrestricted							
21		Second Generation Antinsychotics	Clanzapine			PA							
23		second concrution Anapsycholics	Quetianine			Unrestricted							
24			Risperidone			Unrestricted							
25			Ziprasidone			Unrestricted							
26		\rightarrow	Covered Co	ount		9	-						
27			Unrestricte	d Count	<u>.</u>	6							
20		Alkylating Agents	Cyclophosph	amide		Uncovered							
30		Aikylating Agenta	Unrestricte	d Count		0							
31			Capecitabine	u oount	1	Unrestricted	1						
32		Antimetabolites	Covered Co	ount		1	1						
33			Unrestricte	d Count		1	1						
34			Anastrozole			Unrestricted							
35			Exemestane			Unrestricted							
30		Aromatase Inhibitors	Letrozole: Di	anaialih		Uncoursed							
38			Covered Co	unt		Oncovered	1						
39			Unrestricte	d Count		3							
40			Leucovorin			Unrestricted	1						
41		Folic Acid Metabolites	Covered Co	ount		1	1						
42			Unrestricte	d Count		1							
43			Alendronate			Unrestricted							
44			Calcitriol	-1		Unrestricted							
45			Dovercalcife	rol		Unrestricted							
47	Breast Cancer	Miscellaneous	Ergocalcifero	1		Unrestricted	1						
48			Megestrol Ac	etate		Unrestricted							
49			Risedronate			Uncovered	1						
50			Covered Co	ount		6							
51			Unrestricte	d Count		6	-						
52			Tamoxifeo			Unrestricted							
4	Instructio	ns Output Descriptions	Summary	Dian Summary	Blan Dotails	Clinical Sur	man	linical	Details	All	DVCU	c Sub	mitter
	insu ucuo	is output Descriptions issuer	Summary	Fian Summary	Fian Detalls	Cinical Sul	milary	 minudi	Detans	All	incol	s Sub	miller

When we look at the Clinical Summary tab for this formulary in the screen shot on pg. 46, we see that this drug list met the threshold for coverage of drugs in the Second-Generation Antipsychotics for treatment of bipolar disorder. The applicable threshold is 7 covered drugs in this Class. Note that this formulary covers only 6 drugs in this class without restriction. In this case, the drug list still meets the test, because covered drugs in this Class for this condition count toward the threshold whether they are covered with or without restriction. We know that because the "Test Description" column on the Clinical Summary tab does not say "Unrestricted".

Now let's look at a result where there is a deficiency. The Clinical Summary tab below shows a drug list that did not meet the threshold for coverage of drugs in the "Insulin – Prandials" Class (yellow highlighted row identified with a red arrow). This is a Class in which the threshold for covered drugs is 1 (purple circle) for treatment of diabetes. Also, the threshold number of drugs in this Class must be covered for diabetes <u>without restriction</u> (red circle). This drug list includes



no drugs in this Class covered without restriction (green circle), so the result for this test is "Not Met".

:20	• E	\times \checkmark f_x Coverage of drugs i	n the Insul	in -	Prandials class with	out prior autho	prization or ste	ep therapy (un	restri
	_				_			•	
A	В	C	D		E	F	G	н	
					Appropriateness Pesult	1 List Not Met	30 Tests	Not Met	
	Condition 🔻	Test Description	Condition Test ID	n T	Threshold Selected	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Test Count	List 1 Result	
		Coverage of drugs in the Targeted Therapy Inhibitors: Kinase and PARP class.	10		1		1	Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Alpha Glucosidase Inhibitors class.	11		1		0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Biguanide class (Metformin) without prior authorization or step therapy (unrestricted).	12		1		0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Dipeptidyl Peptidase 4 (DPP-4) Inhibitors class.	13		1		4	Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Glucagon-Like Peptide- 1 (GLP-1) Receptor Agonists class.	14	_	1		1	Met	
0	Diabetes	Coverage of drugs in the insulin - Basais class without prior authorization or step therapy (unrestricted).	15		1		0	Not Met	
	\subset	Coverage of drugs in the Insulin - Prandials class without prior authorization or step therapy (unrestricted).	16				0	Not Met	
		Coverage of druge in the Meglitinides class.	17		1		0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Miscellaneous class.	18	_	1		0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Sodium Glucose Co- Transporter 2 (SGLT2) Inhibitors class.	19		1		2	Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Sulfonylureas (2nd Generation) class.	20	_	1		0	Not Met	
		class.	21		1		0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Non-Pangenotypic Direct Acting Antivirals (DAA) class.	22		1		1	Met	
H	lepatitis C	Coverage of drugs in the Pangenotypic Direct Acting Antivirals (DAA) class.	23		1		0	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Nucleoside Analogs class.	24		1		1	Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the Combination Drugs class.	25		4		2	Not Met	
		Coverage of drugs in the integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitors class.	26		1		2	Met	
		Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors class.	27		1		1	Met	
ł	liv	Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors class.	28		1		0	Not Met	
		Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors class.	29		1		1	Met	
		Enhancers class. Coverage of drugs in the Protesse Inhibitors	30		1		1	Met	
		Class.	31		1		1	Met	
		coverage of drugs in the Anuspasticity Agents class. Coverage of drugs in the Benzodiazenines	32		1		0	Not Met	
1		Coverage of drugs in the Cotionatoraida alaga	24		1		1	Met	
•	Issue	er Summary Plan Summary Plan I	Details	Clin	ical Summary C	linical Details	Errors A	II RXCUIs Subm	nitte

The carrier will need to resolve this result. Of course, the Plan Details tab "Deficiency Message" column will tell the carrier what the problem is, and tell the carrier how to resolve it. That tab shows this result:



H5	-	- = >	fx	WAF001											
A	в	С	E	F	G	Н	1	J	к	L	М	N	NO		
2								Deficiency Results:		Clin	Formulary Outlier De ical Appropriateness	ficiencies: 0 Deficiencies: 150)		
3			Issue	er Data			Formulary Data				Detailed Deficien	cy Results	ults		
4	State 🖵	Issuer ID *	Standard Component II	Plan Marketing Name	Metal Level	Formulary ID	Number of Drug Tiers	Drug List	Review Flagged 🚽	Category; Class or Condition Class	Coverage Requiremen	Drug Count & Threshold	Deficiency Message 🚽		
46	WA	69364	69364WA1220008	Silver 3000 EPO Individual and Family Network	Silver	WAF002	7	1	Clinical Appropriateness	Diabetes condition; Insulin - Prandials class (ID: 16)	Covered; Unrestricter	0 out of 1	The drug lat associated with this plan covers 0 unrestricted drug(s) in the Diabetes condition; Insulin - Prandials class. The minimum threshold for this drug class is 1. Please modify the drug lat associated with this plan to meet or exceed this requirement, or submit an appropriate function.		

But we can also use the Clinical Details tab (screen shot, below). On that tab, the result for "Insulin – Prandials" for treatment of diabetes shows that this formulary does cover one drug in this Class for diabetes (yellow highlighted row, red arrow). The test threshold is one drug in this Class for diabetes. So far, so good. The problem is that this one drug is covered with restrictions: prior authorization and step therapy (indicated by the "PA, ST" in bold, red font in the purple circle).





To resolve this result, the carrier has some choices. It may remove the prior authorization and step therapy requirements from the covered drug, it may add a second drug to the formulary that is covered without restrictions, or it may write an acceptable justification why this formulary design does not discriminate against diabetics.

One other note on the screen shot above: you can see that the "Unrestricted Count" result is zero (purple arrows), and we know that this is a deficiency. However, this deficiency is not flagged on this tab; the zero appears in regular, black font. That's why this tab must be used in conjunction with the Clinical Summary tab, where deficiencies are flagged.

All RxCUIs Submitted Tab

This tab is somewhat misnamed, because it includes not only those RxCUIs on the drug list being analyzed, but all drugs available to meet the benchmark in a particular Category Class. This tab includes the same information as the Clinical Details tab, with additional information about each drug, such as the dosage and route of administration that will satisfy the Category Class (see red circles in the screen shot below). This information can be critical to resolving a "Not Met" result. See the earlier discussion about how dosage and route of administration affect results.

N2	2 * : 🗙	✓ fx							
1									-
2									
A	B C	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К
3	RXCUI Retired?	Review(s) Impacted	ExNorm Description	Chemically Distinct Drug	Brand Name (if Applicable)	Dose Form	Category/Condition & Class Impacted	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Coverage
-		Clinical							
4	213460 No	Appropriateness, Formulary Outlier	abacavir 300 MG Oral Tablet (Ziager)	abacavir	Ziagen	Oral Tablet	CA: 28 FO: 18		Not Covered
		Clinical							
5	213461 No	Appropriateness, Formulary Outlier	apacavir 20 MG/ML Oral Solution (Ziapon)	abacavir	Ziagen	Oral Solution	CA: 28 FO: 18		Lier 4 - Unrestricted
-		Clinical							
6	242679 No	Appropriateness, Formulary Outlier	abacavir 300 MG Oral Tablet	abacavir		Oral Tablet	CA: 28 EO: 18		Tier 2 - Unrestricted
		Clinical							
7	242680 No	Appropriateness, Formulary Outlier	abacavir 20 MG/ML Oral Solution	abacavir		Oral Solution	CA: 281E0: 18		Tier 2 - Unrestricted
	242000 110	Clinical		abacara		orarbolatori	04.20110.10		
	616018 No	Appropriateness,	abata cont 250 MC Injection (Orangia)	chatagoant	Oranaia	laiactian	CA: 40 LEO: 26: 27		Not Covered
0	010010 100	Clinical	abatacept 250 mo injection [Orencia]	apatacept	Orencia	Injection	CA. 45 110. 20, 21		
	4445000 No	Appropriateness,	1 ML abatacept 125 MG/ML Prefilled		Orana in	Des fille et Courie en	04-40-50-00-07		Tier 6 - PA
9	1145952 N0	Clinical	Syninge (Orencia)	anatacept	Orencia	Prenied Syninge	CA. 49 FU. 20, 27		
		Appropriateness,	1 ML abatacept 125 MG/ML Auto-Injector						Tier 6 - PA
10	1799230 No	Formulary Outlier	Orencia 0.4 ML abatacent 125 MG/ML Prefiled	atatacept	Orencia	Auto-Injector	CA: 49 FO: 26; 27		
11	1925255 No	Formulary Outlier	Syringe [Orencia]	abatacept	Orencia	Prefilled Syringe	FO: 26; 27		Not Covered
12	1925257 No	Formulary Outlier	0.7 ML abatacept 125 MG/ML Prefiled Syringe [Orencia]	abatacant	Orencia	Drafillad Syringa	ED: 26: 27		Tier 6 - PA
13	1946836 No	Clinical	abemaciclib 50 MG Oral Tablet [Verzenio]	abemaciclib	Verzenio	Oral Tablet	CA: 10		Not Covered
14	1046840 No	Clinical	abemaciclib 100 MG Oral Tablet	atamaciclib	Verzenio	Oral Tablet	CA: 10		Not Covered
14	1340040 110	Clinical	abemaciclib 150 MG Oral Tablet	acemaciciio	Verzenio	Oral rabiet	CA. 10		Net Covered
15	1946844 No	Appropriateness	[Verzenio] abama sistlih 200 MC Oral Tablat	atemaciclib	Verzenio	Oral Tablet	CA: 10		NOLCOVERED
16	1946848 No	Appropriateness	[Verzenio]	abemaciclib	Verzenio	Oral Tablet	CA: 10		Not Covered
17	1100075 No	Clinical	abiraterone acetate 250 MG Oral Tablet	abiraterone		Oral Tablet	CA: 45		Not Covered
18	1100079 No	Appropriateness	IZvtigal	abiraterone	Zvtiga	Oral Tablet	CA: 45		Tier 5 - PA
19	1918042 No	Clinical	abiraterone acetate 500 MG Oral Tablet	biraterone		Oral Tablet	CA: 45		Not Covered
20	1918044 No	Cinical Appropriateness	apiraterone acetate 500 MG Oral Tablet	abiraterone	Zvtiga	Oral Tablet	CA: 45		Tier 5 - PA
		Clinical	abiraterone acetate 125 MG Oral Tablet		-,		1		Not Covered
21	2046585 No	Appropriateness	[Yonsa]	abiraterone	Yonsa	Oral Tablet	CA: 45		Not Governed
		Appropriateness,							Tier 1 - Unrestricted
22	199149 No	Formulary Outlier	carbose 50 MG Oral Tablet	Acarbose		Oral Tablet	CA: 11 FO: 24		
		Appropriateness,				\ /			Tier 1 - Unrestricted
23	199150 No	Formulary Outlier	Acarbose 100 MG Oral Tablet	Acarbose		oral Tablet	CA: 11 FO: 24		
		Appropriateness				λ /			Tier 1 - Unrestricted
24	200132 No	Formulary Outlier	Acarbose 25 MG Oral Tablet	Acarbose		OralTablet	CA: 11 FO: 24		
		Clinical Appropriateness							Not Covered
		corintians	Nor Summary Blan Summary	Plan Dataila Clinical Summ	Clinical D		ubmitted Errora	@ : -	
	Output De	iscriptions is	such Summary Plansummary	rian Details Clinical Summ	chincal L	All RACOIS 3	cirors	· · · ·	

The default is for this tab to be sorted alphabetically by chemically distinct drug. But, like all tabs in these Tools, it can be sorted many ways, to present the data in the manner most useful



to your task. The tab consists of blue columns with information about the available drugs, and green columns with information about coverage of those drugs in the drug list(s) being analyzed.

The first column lists the RxCUIs. The second tells whether that RxCUI is retired (retired RxCUIs cannot be used to satisfy a Category Class benchmark). The third column tells which of the Formulary Review Suite Tools is impacted by coverage of that particular drug. The fourth column is the description of the drug. The fifth column is the name of the chemically distinct drug, while the sixth is the brand name of the drug, if the particular RxCUI refers to a preparation of the drug that has a brand name. The seventh column is the form of the drug (tablet, oral solution, injection, etc.).

The last blue column on the right is a very important column; it lists the Category Class of the drug, and the tested condition(s) impacted. If a carrier's Tool results showed that its drug list did not cover sufficient drugs in in a particular Category Class for a particular tested condition, the carrier would need to add drugs to its formulary to correct that deficiency. The carrier can use this tab to find all drugs from which it could choose. You would want to sort the data on this tab by this column, so that each drug that impacts a certain Category and Class and Condition would be listed together.

The way the data is shown in this column takes a minute to grasp. Let's look at one line on this tab.



The data in the red circles tells us this line refers to RxCUI 124348, which is an extended release oral tablet of a drug with the brand name Janumet. Janumet is a combination of the drugs Metformin and Sitagliptin. In the particular drug list being tested, this drug is covered on tier 3 without restrictions.

The data in the green circle tells us that this drug impacts both the Clinical Appropriateness and the Formulary Outlier tools. Finally, the data in the purple circle tells us which Category Classes and tested conditions the drug impacts. This row says "CA: 12,13 | FO: 24". There doesn't seem to be an explanation of this rather cryptic result in the Tool but, after crawling around the tabs for a bit, OIC determined that this result means the following:

CA stands for the Clinical Appropriateness Tool. On the Clinical Appropriateness tool, this drug impacts Condition Test IDs 12 and 13. Hence "CA: 12.13". The Condition Test IDs are found on the Clinical Summary tab of the tool results, and refer to a particular Category Class of drugs for a particular condition. Condition Test ID 12, for example, refers to coverage of drugs in the Biguanide class without prior authorization or step therapy, to treat diabetes.



FO stands for the Formulary Outlier tool. On the Formulary Outlier Tool, this drug impacts Category Class ID 24, which is "Blood Glucose Regulators, Antidiabetic Agents."

So if the carrier needed to cover an additional drug for its formulary to pass any of these three tests, and did not already cover Janumet, this tab would tell the carrier that adding Janumet to its formulary is one option.

Errors tab

The errors tab included with the Formulary Review Suite results shows where there is some problem with the tool's processing of the data. This tab will show that a carrier included drug lists on its Rx Drug Template that have not been used for any of its plans (see screen shot below).



You want to check this tab to see if it shows any other errors. If it does, those errors may need to be resolved so that the user gets results for each drug list they are trying to test. We will not discuss other errors that may appear on this tab. If you run into other errors, look at the description of the error and see if that tells you whether, and how, you need to resolve it. You may need to contact HHS at their CMS Help Desk at <u>CMS FEPS@cms.hhs.gov</u> or via phone at 1-855-CMS-1515. Be aware that this Help Desk can take a long time to respond to requests.

Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Review Tool

Carriers are not required to run this tool, or to report results. OIC runs this test marketwide, for reasons that will be explained below. But this section will explain what the tool does and what the results mean, in case OIC runs this marketwide test, and the results show an issue.

The Drug Count Tool, described earlier, reviews formularies to determine that they cover a sufficient number of each kind of drugs. The Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Tool reviews formularies to determine whether the plan provides enrollees appropriate access to those drugs. Requiring an enrollee to do something before they can access a covered drug is considered a "restriction" on access to that drug. The Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Tool counts how many drugs in certain Category Classes are subject to two restrictions: either preauthorization or



step therapy, or both. The Tool identifies formularies that have an unusually high number of restrictions on drugs in those Category Classes. (See Section 1 on the Output Descriptions tab.)

The purpose of this analysis is to look for discrimination on the basis of a health status, which is prohibited by the ACA. The tool analyzes plans to see whether they discourage people with certain conditions from purchasing their plans by overly restricting access to the drugs needed by people with these conditions.

For Plan Year 2020, the Non-Discrimination Formulary Outlier Tool (Formulary Outlier Tool) analyzes drugs in 28 Categories.

The reason the Tool doesn't work when run on a single carrier's formularies is that the Tool measures formularies against each other. This Tool needs 5 or more drug lists to compare, and no carrier in Washington has that many drug lists. (The particular methodology this Tool uses to calculate outliers, Tukey's Outlier methodology, needs at least 5 data points to calculate outliers.) The Tool creates benchmarks – the number of restrictions in a Category Class on most of the formularies tested – to identify outliers.

The need to compare formularies against each other to look for outliers makes sense if you think about what an outlier is. You can't have "outliers" in a group of one or two; a group of one couldn't have any outliers, and it isn't correct to say that a group of two has outliers, either. The tallest of two people cannot be said to be an "outlier" in terms of height.

The Formulary Outlier Tool is designed as a market-wide Tool. When run on an entire market, the Tool identifies formularies with more restrictions than other formularies on certain drugs. However, in order to analyze the entire Individual and Small Group markets' plans, the user must have the binder templates for every carrier. Since OIC has access to all of the templates but the carriers initially do not, OIC runs the Tool on the markets as a whole and then looks more closely at formularies flagged as outliers.

Instructions Tab

To run this Tool, you will need to run the Master Review Tool using the data for all the formularies you wish to compare. When OIC runs the Formulary Outlier Tool, we input Master Review Tool results for all formularies from all carriers in the Washington market. You will also need to create a folder that contains the Prescription Drug Templates for all carriers whose formularies you wish to compare.

Using those sets of data, the instructions for running the Formulary Outlier Tool are exactly the same as given in the <u>section called "Instructions tab"</u>, above, until the user gets to the question "Do you Want to Run All Formulary Reviews Together". Again, the user answers "No", and again a dialog box pops up asking which tool the user wants to run. To run the Formulary Outlier Tool, however, the user would choose this Tool in the dialog box. When you do that, get ready for a series of dialog boxes. First, the following dialog box appears:





The user should click the radio button to answer "Yes" to this question. That's because the Tool does not have default values for the states programmed into it. Therefore, if you don't manually enter the state outlier thresholds, the Tool will use a "null" value, meaning that it won't apply any state threshold. In other words, every formulary would pass the Tool because the Tool wouldn't be measuring against anything.

When you answer "Yes" to calculate State Outlier thresholds, the following dialog box appears:





This simply means that answering "Yes" would erase the current thresholds entered into the Tool. As stated, there are no default state values programmed in. All this means is you would be erasing any values you had manually entered during previous use of the Tool. Click the "Yes" button.

You will then see this dialog box:

Ins	struc	ctio	•	\geq	\sim	fx.	No											
	4	в		С			D		E		F		G		н		1	
						Inst	ructions	for Usi	ng the	Formul	ary Rev	/iew Su	iite					
2							(2020 Ve	ersion	1.0 - DF	RAFT)							
15			Option the lis	the stand northe t.	te being BCBS Ba	isic Optio	n as its EHB-	if you are n benchmark	olan, selec	t either OPM	lan using ei 1-1, OPM-2	, or OPM-3	at the bottom o	f Sta	te Selectior	n		
16		3.	Note: the su Discri	The Fo lite. The mination	rmulary suite car Formula	Review n run tem ry Outlier	Suite does plates from n review AND	not require t nultiple state calculate st	he state se s simultane ate outlier	election in te ously. If a u thresholds, f	mplates to m ser chooses then all RX a	natch the sta s to run the and P&B ten	ate selected in Non- mplate data must		WA			
	Γ		Optio	nal Ste	p: Would	you like	to import Pla	ns & Benef	its (P&B)	data and RX	template da	ata from a N	Master Review	Do	you wish to	0		
17			Import suffic RX ter	ing P&E ient RX mplate d	data wi data is a ata is no	ll also ena vailable), t imported	able users to if the user cl d, then result	remove unu looses to ru s will only di	sed drug i n the Non- splay at th	sts and calc Discrimination issuer and	ulate state o in Formulary le	outlier thres Outlier rev evel. Unuse	holds (when riew. If P&B and rid drug lists will	Nor	n-Discriminatio	ion I	Formulary Outlier - State Thresholds	×
			also be included in the results. Note: The Formulary Review Suite will import P&B data for plans that are offered both on and off the events plans that will only be available off the exchange. Press the <i>Import Data from Master Review Tool</i> button below to import data from a Master Review from the CMS velocitie.											F	Please ent	ter	r the Outlier Multiplier (M) you would like to use.	
18		4.											he exchanges a	s I	Preferable i	mι	ultipliers are $1.0 \le M \le 2.0$.	
19													iew I ool, which	16				
20			Import Data from Master Review Tool														1.5	
21			Users No fr will be	have the second the second the second the second the second term is th	e option selection No is se	to run mu box to th lected, th	ultiple formula e right. If Yes e user will be	ry reviews is selected able to cho	at once or all review ose the inc	run each re s contained fividual revie	view separa within the F ew(s) they v	ately. Please ormulary i would like th	e select Yes or Review Suite he tool to perform	n			Next>	
23		5.	To run reviev	n the Fo v(s) the	rmulary user sel	Review ected wi	Suite, click I be performe	on the <i>Run</i> ed.	Formular	y Review S	uite button	below. Afte	er this button is p	pressed	, the formulary			
24								Rur	Formu	lary Rev	riew Suit	te						
25			WARI will kr Form	ing: 1 ow that ulary F	he Form t the tool Review S willor fail	ulary Re has finisi <i>uit</i> e but	ned processi ton, do not us	may take se ng when a r se other Mici	veral minut nessage b rosoft Offic	es to run de ox appears ce products.	pending on notifying you Using other	the amount u of a comp r Microsoft (of data that has lete run. After p Office products	to be p ressing may cau	rocessed. You the <i>Run</i> ise the tool to			
		6.	Use th to a s	ne selec eparate	tion men Excel file	u to the ri e, which t	ght to export he user can	the results (then save fo	of the Forr or his or he	nulary Rev r records.	iew Suite.	The results	will be exported	Wou	Id you like t export the formulary	to		
26 27			Note:	If the u	ser selec	ts Yes, a	a button will a	ppear belov	v to perfor	m the export	t process.			R	Results? No	,		
30			To cle	ar the d	ata from	all works	heets in the	Formulary	Review S	uite, press	the Clear A	All Data bu	itton below.					
31		7.							Cle	ar All Da	Ita							

The Tool is programmed with a default Outlier Multiplier of 1.5 if the user chooses to calculate state thresholds. This is the Outlier Multiplier OIC instructs carriers to use, so simply click "Next". Explanation further on in this section will illustrate what this multiplier means.

Once you select "Next", yet another dialog box appears asking whether you want to use National Outlier thresholds.



run the Non- P&B template data must	WA	
rom a Master Review sview at the plan level. ar thresholds (when tlier review. If P&B and . Unused drug lists will	Non-Discrimination	Formulary Outlier - National Thresholds X like to use National Outlier thresholds?
nd off the exchanges as er Review Tool, which ca	Please select	"Yes" or "No" below.
Tool		ି Yes
· Please select Yes or nulary Review Suite		ି No
Id like the tool to perform.		Done
amount of data that has to be a complete run. After pressi prosoft Office products may	e processed. You ng the <i>Run</i> cause the tool to	
results will be exported	ould you like to export the	
	Formulary Review Suite Results?	

OIC does not use these thresholds to measure Washington plans, so click the radio button for "No", and then click the "Done" button.

In a shocking twist, yet another dialog box appears.



This box is basically asking you "Are you sure? Because the tool is preprogrammed with national outlier thresholds you could use." You're sure. Click the "Yes" button.

One more dialog box appears, asking you to select the folder where you've stored all the Prescription Drug Templates on which you want to run the Tool, and then the Tool begins to run. This one takes a while when it is run on the entire Washington market.



Issuer Summary, Plan Summary, and Plan Details Tabs

The only difference between the way these tabs show results for the Formulary Outlier Tool and <u>for the Clinical Appropriateness Tool</u> is that the Formulary Outlier Tool results are provided in blue columns.

Formulary Outlier Summary Tab

This tab shows the results only of the Formulary Outlier Tool. The results are shown at the drug list level. The results on this tab look like this:

15	×	1 × 🗸 j	Sr																
1																			
2																			
AA	B	C	D	E	F	G	н	AL	AM	AN	AO	AP	DA DA	AR	AS	AT	AU	AV	AW
з				_	-		Outlier		All Lists Met		1 List Not Met	1 06	tlier	1 List Not Met	0 Out	liers	12 Ou	tliers	1 List Not Met
4	Category Class ID	Category	Class •	Benchmark Count	National Outlier Thresholds —	State Outlier Thresholds —	Applied Thresholds	53732 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count	List 1 Outlier Status	61836 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count	List 1 Outlier Status	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count	List 1 Outlier Status	List 2 Unrestricted Count	List 2 Outlier Status	71281 Drug Unre Lists V
5	1	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Dependence Treatments	2	N/A	1	1		3	Met		2	Met		3	Met	3	Met	
6	2	Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Reversal Agents	1	N/A	1	1		1	Met		0	Not Met		1	Met	0	Not Met	
7	3	Anticonvulsants	Anticonvulsants, Other	3	N/A	1	1		4	Met		2	Met		4	Met	2	Met	
8	4	Anticonvulsants	Calcium Channel Modifying Agents	4	N/A	2	2		4	Met		3	Met		4	Met	0	Not Met	
9	5	Anticonvulsants	Gamma-aminobutyric Acid (GABA) Augmenting Agents	4	N/A	3	3		6	Met		6	Met		6	Met	3	Met	
10	6	Anticonvulsants	Glutamate Reducing Agents	3	N/A	1	1		3	Met		3	Met		3	Met	0	Not Met	
11	7	Anticonvulsants	Sodium Channel Agents	7	N/A	NRINT	NR-NT		7	Met		7	Met		7	Met	3	Met	
12	8	Antidepressants	Antidepressants, Other		(NA)	2	2		7	Met		7	Met		1	Met		Not Met	
13	9	Antidepressants	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin	4	Tim	NR-NT	NR-NI		4	Met		4	Met		4	Met	0	Met	
14	10	Antidepressants	Reuptake Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors)	11	N/A	6	6		10	Met		11	Met		10	Met	0	Not Met	
15	11	Antidepressants	Tricyclics	9	N/A	3	3		9	Met		8	Met		9	Met	0	Not Met	
16	12	Antiemetics	Emetogenic Therapy Adjuncts	6	N/A	1	1		5	Met		6	Met		5	Met	4	Met	
17	13	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis B (HBV) Agents	7	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		6	Met		2	Met		6	Met	0	Met	
18	14	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Direct Acting	0	N/A	0	0		0	Met		0	Met		0	Met	0	Met	
19	15	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Other	0	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		4	Met		0	Met		4	Met	0	Met	
20	16	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase Inhibitors (INSTI)	2	N/A	3	2		5	Met		8	Met		5	Met	0	Not Met	
21	17	Antivirais	Anti-HIV Agents, Non-nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NNRTI)	5	N/A	6	5		8	Met		10	Met		8	Met	0	Not Met	
22	18	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Nucleoside and Nucleotide Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NRTI)	12	N/A	13	12		18	Met		20	Met		18	Met	1	Not Met	
23	19	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Other	3	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		6	Met		5	Met		6	Met	0	Met	
24	20	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Protease Inhibitors	9	N/A	1	1		11	Met		10	Met		11	Met	0	Not Met	
25	21	Anxiolytics	Anxiolytics, Other	4	N/A	0	0		4	Met		5	Met		4	Met	1	Met	
26	22	Anxiolytics	Benzodiazepines	0	N/A	3	1		6	Met		8	Met		6	Met	3	Met	
27	23	Anxiolytics	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors)	6	N/A	2	2		5	Met		5	Met		5	Met	0	Not Met	
28	24	Blood Glucose Regulators	Antidiabetic Agents	21	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		24	Met		22	Met		24	Met	0	Met	
29	25	Blood Glucose Regulators	Insulins	10	N/A	3	3		9	Met		8	Met		9	Met	0	Not Met	
30	26	Immunological Agents	Immune Suppressants	18	N/A	4	4		10	Met		9	Met		10	Met	9	Met	
31	27	Immunological Agents	Immunomodulators	16	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		9	Met		6	Met		9	Met	1	Met	
32	28	Respiratory Tract/ Pulmonary Agents	Cystic Fibrosis Agents	2	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		2	Met		0	Met		2	Met	0	Met	
33 34 35	Legend	NR-DL = No Result - NR-NT = No Result - I	oo Few Drug Lists legative Threshold											•					

v v Uutput Descriptions | issuer summary | Pain summary | Pain Detains | rormulary Output of Summary | Formulary Output Detains | All KKUDIS Submitt (*) ; 4

Again, there is an executive summary at the top. The "Formulary Outlier Result" box (red arrow) shows whether any formularies failed the Formulary Outlier Tool.

The first three columns on the left, in blue, will be the same regardless of whether the Tool is run on one formulary or many. These columns show the 27 Category Classes that the test reviews. **Note:** Remember that Category Class IDs are just numbers used only by HHS for these Electronic Review Tools. There's nothing official about them; they're just a shorthand way for the tools to identify Category Classes. That's why the Category Class IDs assigned to these particular groups of drugs by the Formulary Outlier Tool are not the same as the Category Class IDs assigned to the same groups of drugs by the Drug Count Tool. It doesn't mean anything. Just remember that the name of the Category Class name is what matters, not the number.

The next four columns, in purple, show the thresholds applied. The first column shows the Benchmark Count. For purposes of the Formulary Outlier Tool, this benchmark is either the state benchmark or the reevaluated benchmark, whichever is lower. An outlier is a multiplier of this benchmark calculated by a method called Tukey's Outlier calculation. (I don't know the math behind this calculation; but I know that the outlier will be calculated using the threshold we input when we ran the Tool, which was 1.5.)



Note: Using Tukey's Outlier calculation, it is possible that the answer is less than zero – i.e., a negative outlier. In that case, the default value will be set to zero.

Let's look at an example of how this tool works. Category Class 8, Antidepressants – Other, has a state Benchmark Count of 8 (Yellow highlighted row in screen shot above, red circle). We input a threshold of 1.5, so the test will flag as an outlier any plan that covers 2 or fewer drugs in this Category Class without restrictions (green arrows). If the Tool flags an outlier, we need more information to determine whether covering so few drugs without restrictions in the flagged Category Class is discriminatory against people with health conditions that are treated with these drugs.

The next purple column is where the National Outlier thresholds would appear, if the user had chosen to use them. Carriers are asked not to use them, so this column simply says "N/A".

The next two columns are where you can really see why this tool is not very useful when run on one issuer's formularies alone. Below is a screen shot of the Tool run on only one issuer's formularies.

15	*	: × 🗸	fx								
2					· .						
A	в	с		D	E	F	G	н	1	J	к
2	1							Marketplace Type:		Individual	
3						_		Formulary Outlier		All Lists Met	
	Category Class ID	Category	C	lass	Benchmark Count	National Outlier Thresholds —	State Outlier Thresholds	Applied Thresholds	23371 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count	List 1 Outlier Status
4		Anti-Addiction/									
5	1	Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Dependence	Treatments	2	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		4	N/A
6	2	Anti-Addiction/ Substance Abuse Treatment Agents	Opioid Reversal Ag	ents	1	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		1	N/A
7	3	Anticonvulsants	Anticonvulsants, O	ther	3	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		3	N/A
8	4	Anticonvulsants	Calcium Channel M	difying Agents	4	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		3	N/A
9	5	Anticonvulsants	Gamma-aminobutyr Augmenting Agents	ic Acid (GABA)	4	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		4	N/A
10	7	Anticonvulsants	Giutamate Reducin) Agents	3	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		2	N/A N/A
12	8	Antidenressants	Antidenressants (ther	8	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		4	N/A
13	9	Antidepressants	Monoamine Oxidas	e Inhibitors	4	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DI		2	N/A
14	10	Antidepressants	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selec Reuptake Inhibitors Norepinephrine Reu	tive Serotonin Serotonin and	11	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		8	N/A
15	11	Antidepressants	Tricyclics		9	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		9	N/A
16	12	Antiemetics	Emetogenic Therap	y Adjuncts	6	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		4	N/A
17	13	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis B (HE	V) Agents	7	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		5	N/A
18	14	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (HC	V) Agents	5	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		8	N/A
19	15	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, In (INSTI)	tegrase Inhibitors	2	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		3	N/A
20	16	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, N Transcriptase Inhib	on-nucleoside Reverse itors (NNRTI)	5	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		5	N/A
21	17	Antivirals	Nucleotide Reverse Inhibitors (NRTI)	Transcriptase	12	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		16	N/A
22	18	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, O	ther	3	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		6	N/A
23	19	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, P	otease Inhibitors	9	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		7	N/A
24	20	Anxiolytics	Anxiolytics, Other		4	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		3	N/A
25	21	Anxiolytics Anxiolytics	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selec Reuptake Inhibitors	tive Serotonin Serotonin and	5	N/A N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		5	N/A N/A
20	23	Blood Glucose	Antidiabetic Agents	iptake inhibitors)	21	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		10	N/A
28	24	Blood Glucose	Insulins		10	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		6	N/A
29	25	Immunological Agents	Immune Suppressa	nts	17	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		14	N/A
30	26	Immunological Agents	Immunomodulators		15	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		9	N/A
31	27	Respiratory Tract/ Pulmonary Agents	Cystic Fibrosis Age	nts	3	N/A	NR-DL	NR-DL		1	N/A
32 33	Legend	NR-DL = No Result -	Too Few Drug Lists								
	· →	Issuer Summary	Plan Summary	Formulary Outli	er Summary	Formulary Outli	er Details	Clinical Summary	Clinical D	etails All F	xCUIs Submitt

Electronic Formulary Review Tools Public Ed. 2 (4/2019)



A quick glance shows you that there are no results on this tab. The Tool counted the number of restricted drugs in each Category Class on the formulary, but that's all it did. All the results are NR-DL, which the key at the bottom of the tab tells us means "No result – too few drug lists". The Tool didn't compare anything to find outliers, because there was nothing to compare. The particular carrier whose results are shown in the screen shot above uses the same drug list for every formulary.

Most carriers' formularies have only one or two drug lists. There's no way to calculate outliers on a set of one thing. You can't calculate the tallest person in a group of one person. The same is true of a group of two. Sure, one may be taller, but that cannot be called an "outlier". To have an outlier, you need a norm. For that reason, Tukey's Outlier calculation, which is used to calculate the outlier thresholds, needs at least 5 data points. So the results in the "State Outlier Thresholds" and "Applied Thresholds" are all "NR-DL".

Let's return to the results of the Tool run marketwide, so that we can look at the rest of the columns on this tab.

1								-						-					
A	в	C	D	E	F	G	н	AL	AM	AN	AO	AP	AQ	AR	AS	AT	AU	AV	
3							Formular	/ r	All Lists Met		1 List Not Met	1 Ou	tlier	1 List Not Met	0 Ou	tliers	12 0.	<i>itliers</i>	11
4	Category Class ID	Category	Class	Benchmark Count	National Outlier Thresholds —	State Outlier Thresholds -	Applied Thresholds	53732 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count	List 1 Outlier Status	61836 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count 🖵	List 1 Outlier Status	69364 Drug Lists	List 1 Unrestricted Count	List 1 Outlier Status	List 2 Unrestricted Count	List 2 Outlier Status	7
8	4	Anticonvulsants	Calcium Channel Modifying Agents	4	N/A	2	2		4	Met		3	Met		4	Met	0	Not Met	
9	5	Anticonvulsants	Gamma-aminobutyric Acid (GABA)	4	N/A	3	3		6	Met		6	Met		6	Met	3	Met	
10	6	Anticonvulsants	Glutamate Reducing Agents	3	N/A	1	1		3	Met		3	Met		3	Met	0	Not Met	-
11	7	Anticonvulsants	Sodium Channel Agents	7	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		7	Met		7	Met		7	Met	3	Met	
12	8	Antidepressants	Antidepressants, Other	8	N/A	2	2		7	Met		7	Met		7	Met	0	Not Met	
13	9	Antidepressants	Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors	4	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		4	Met		4	Met		4	Met	0	Met	
14	10	Antidepressants	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors/ Serotonin and Noreoineohrine Reuptake Inhibitors)	11	N/A	5	5		10	Met		11	Met		10	Met	0	Not Met	
15	11	Antidepressants	Tricyclics	9	N/A	3	3		9	Met		8	Met		9	Met	0	Not Met	
16	12	Antiemetics	Emetogenic Therapy Adjuncts	6	N/A	1	1		5	Met		6	Met		5	Met	4	Met	
17	13	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis B (HBV) Agents	7	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		6	Met		2	Met		6	Met	0	Met	
18	14	Antivirals	Anti-hepatitis C (HCV) Agents, Direct Action	0	N/A	0	0		0	Met		0	Met		0	Met	0	Met	
19	15	Antivirals	Anti-hepattis C (HCV) Agents, Other	0	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		4	Met		0	Met		4	Met	0	Met	
20	16	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase Inhibitors	2	N/A	3	2		5	Met		8	Met		5	Met	0	Not Met	
20	17	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Non-nucleoside Reverse	5	N/A	6	6		8	Met		10	Met		8	Met		Not Met	
21	18	Antivirals	Transcriptase Inhibitors (NNRTI) Anti-HIV Agents, Nucleoside and Nucleoside Reverse Transcription	12	N/A				18	Met		20	Het		18	Met		Not Met	
22			Inhibitors (NRTI)				0										\checkmark		
23	19	Antivirals	Anti-HIV Agents, Other	3	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		6	Met		5	Met		6	Met	0	Met	
24	20	Antivirais	Anti-HIV Agents, Protease Inhibitors	9	N/A	1	1		11	Met		10	Met			Met	0	Not Met	
20	21	Anxiolytics	Anxiolyucs, Onler	-	N/A	2			-	Met		0	Met		-	Met		Met	
20	23	Anxiolytics	SSRIs/SNRIs (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors/Serotonin and	5	N/A	2	2		5	Met		5	Met		5	Met	0	Not Met	
41	24	Blood Glucose	Antidiabetic Agents	21	NA	NR-NT	NR-NT		24	Met		22	Met		24	Met	0	Met	
28	26	Regulators Blood Glucose	here the	40	N/A				0	No.					0		•	N	
29	2.5	Regulators		10		5				met		0	inc.			mer		and and	
30	26	Immunological Agents	Immune Suppressants	18	N/A	4	4		10	Met		9	Met		10	Met	9	Met	_
31	27	Immunological Agents	Immunomodulators	15	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		9	Met		6	Met		9	Met	1	Met	
32	28	Pulmonary Agents	Cystic Fibrosis Agents	2	N/A	NR-NT	NR-NT		2	Met		0	Met		2	Met	0	Met	
33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42	Legend	NR-DL = No Result - T NR-NT = No Result - N	oo Few Drug Lists egative Threshold								·								
4	×	Output Descriptions	s Issuer Summary Plan Summ	nary Plan Deta	ails Formu	lary Outlier Su	mmary For	mulary Outlier D	etails All	RXCUIs Submit	t (+) ;	4							

The "Applied Threshold" column is the actual threshold the carrier's formulary was compared against to obtain the result presented. According to HHS, carriers are required to meet both the state and national threshold for each Category and Class. So the Applied Threshold should be the greater of the state or national threshold. However, the Applied Threshold is capped at the state's benchmark value, in order to avoid penalizing drug lists that meet, but do not exceed, the state benchmarks. That's why Washington does not ask carriers to apply the national thresholds: if they're capped at the state benchmark anyway, what would be the point?

The green column to the far right in our screen shot, above, are the results. At the top is shown the HIOS ID of the carrier whose formulary results are shown in that set of columns (red circles).



If more than one carrier's formularies are tested, the results will be shown in alternating green and orange sets of columns. The middle column shows the number of drugs in the formulary in that particular Category Class covered without restrictions. This is the number that is measured against the Applied Threshold. The final column, "List X Outlier Status", shows whether a Drug List met the threshold.

As discussed above, when this test is run on only one carrier's formularies, and the carrier has less than 5 Drug Lists, the Tool cannot identify outliers. That's why, in the screen shot we saw of a single carrier's results, all results say "N/A" in regular black font. When a Drug List has been tested for outliers, as in the screen shot above where the tool was run on multiple carriers' formularies, the result will say either "Met" in regular black font, or "Not Met", highlighted, in bold red font.

We can see there are some outliers (see, for example, yellow highlighted rows). Carrier 69364's drug list 2 has outliers in several Category Classes, including several Classes in the Antivirals Category. The applied thresholds for unrestricted drugs in these Category Classes (purple circle) are higher than the number of drugs covered in these Category Classes on drug list 2 (green circle).

OIC may ask for additional information about the formulary, or even send an Objection asking for correction or a justification of each "Not Met" result. Let's look at the next tab to see what the possible corrections exist for the results in two of the yellow-highlighted rows.

Formulary Outlier Details Tab

The Formulary Outlier Details tab shows more detailed information on each of the Category Classes, and coverage of each on the drug lists analyzed. The Formulary Outlier Details tab must be read in conjunction with the Formulary Outlier Summary tab, because the Formulary Outlier Details tab flags restrictions. It does **not** flag failed results. The Formulary Outlier Details tab shows *all* restrictions and uncovered drugs in bold, red font so they are easy to see. Unlike bold, red font on other tabs, on this tab bold, red font does not mean an error or deficiency. To see where errors occurred, you need to look at the Formulary Outlier Summary tab.

You will really only need the information on the Formulary Outlier Details tab that pertains to any failed results on the Formulary Outlier Summary tab.

Note that this review is different from the Clinical Appropriateness review, in that the Clinical Appropriateness review includes some Classes in which thresholds can be met even if the drugs are covered with restrictions. The Formulary Outlier Tool thresholds can only be met by coverage of drugs without restrictions. Regardless of what the "Covered Count" row (red arrow) shows, it is the "Unrestricted Count" (blue arrow) that determines whether a formulary is an outlier on this Tool.



D4	\cdot : $\times \checkmark f_x$				_								~
1				— <i>-</i> /-			-						
2													
112 49	в		Y 2	AAAA	AL AL	AU	AE	AF	AG AH	LA LA	AK AL	AN	AN AU
3	Category; Class	Chemically Distinct Drug	61836 Drug List 1 Lists Coverage	69364 Drug Lis List Cove	1 List 2 age Coverage	71281 Drug Lists	List 1 Coverage	List 2 Coverage	80473 Drug List 1 Lists Coverage	84481 Drug List 1 Lists Coverage	87718 Drug List 1 Lists Coverage	List 2 Coverage	69364 Drug List Lists Covera
· 139		Elvitegravir	Unrestricted	Uncor	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	PA	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
. 140	/	Emtricitabine; Cobicistat; Elvitegravir; Tenofovir Alafenamide	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
141	Antivirals; Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase	Emtricitabine; Tenofovir Alafenamide; Bictegravir Emtricitabine; Tenofovir	Unrestricted	Unco	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	PA	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
142	Inhibitors (INSTI)	Disoproxit, Cobicistat; Elvitegravir Laminutine: Abacavir	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	ST	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
143		Dolutegravir	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
144		Rategravir Républica: Dobitesravir	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
- 146		Covered Count	8	011.0	0		5	0	8	6	5	0	5
147		oprestricted Count	8	1	0		5	0	4	6	5	0	5
· 148		Detwirdine	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
149		DORAMRINE	Uncovered	Unco	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
150		Etavirenz	Unrestricted	Unres	uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
151		Tenofovir Disoproxil Emtricitabine; Rilpivirine;	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
152		Tenofovir Alafenamide	Unicepticied	ones	Cied Oncovered		onrestricted	UNCOVERED	omesticied	onrestricted	onresoluted	UNCOVERED	Unresul
153		Disoproxit Rilpivirine	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	ST	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
· 154	Antivirals; Anti-HIV Agents, Non-	Etravirine	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	PA	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
' 155	nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NNRTI)	Lamivudine; Efavirenz; Tenofovir Disoproxil	Unrestricted	Unco	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	PA	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
156		Disoproxit DORAVIRINE	Uncovered	Unco	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
• 157		Nevirapine	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
158		Ripivirine	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
. 159		Ripvine; Dolutegravir	Unrestricted	Unco	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	PA	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
160		Lamivudine	Uncovered	Uncor	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
- 161		Covered Count	10	1	0		8	0	10	8	8	0	- 8
162		Unrestricted Count	10	1	0		8	0	7	7	8	0	8
163		Abacavir	Unrestricted	Unres	Incled Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
104		Efavirenz Emtricitabine:	Unit Ball Colds	Unies	Concovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	omeanicies	Unitedition	omeasicies	Uncovered	Unitesu
165		Tenofovir Disoproxil	Unrestricted	Unres	noted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestn
· 166		Emtricitabine	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
167		Elvitegravir; Tenofovir Alafenamide	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered	/	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
168		Emtricitabine; Darunavir; Cobicistat: Teopfovir	Uncovered	Uncor	ered Uncovered		Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncovered	Uncove
169		Emtricitabine; Rilpivirine; Tenofovir Alafenamide	Unrestricted	Unres	ricted Uncovered		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
. 170		Emtricitabine; Tenofovir Alafenamide	Unrestricted	fores	ricted Up overed		Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Uncovered	Unrestri
		Entricitabine: Tenofovir								I			· · · ·
< 1	Output Descriptions Issu	uer Summary Plan Summ	ary Plan Details Form	nulary Outlier Summary	Formulary Ou	tlier Details	All RXCUIs Sub	mitt 📀	1 4				Þ

In the first two columns, which are blue, you can see that the default for this tab is to be arranged by Category Class. Although you can sort the tab just as you can all the other tabs in the electronic review tools, there doesn't seem to be much reason to do that here. The first blue column is the "Category Class" column. In the next blue column, the "Chemically Distinct Drug" column, each drug in the Category Class is listed.

Let's look at the Outliers identified in the highlighted rows on our last screen shot, to see what additional information this tab gives us.

The first outlier was in the Category Class "Antvirals; Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase Inhibitors (INSTI)". Here is a good illustration of the Category Class titles being much more important than the Category Class numbers: the numbers aren't even listed on the Formulary Outlier Details tab. So we scroll down to this section of the tab, and see the result above.

The red circled result is the one for carrier 69364. Looking at the "Antvirals; Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase Inhibitors (INSTI)" Category Class, we notice that there are 7 chemically distinct drugs available to meet this Category Class (purple circle). Look at the row labeled "Covered Count" that follows the list of these chemically distinct drugs (red arrow). The result in this row for carrier 69364's drug list 2 tells us that this drug list covers none of the 7 drugs available.

The green and orange columns to the right show us the details of each drug's coverage on each drug list. When the tool is run on multiple carriers' formularies, as in the screen shot, or on multiple markets, these results will appear in alternating orange and green columns.

Look at the results for carrier 69364's drug list 1, just to the left of the results for drug list 2. This is the drug list that passed the Tool. The 4 drugs covered without restrictions are all indicated in the "List 1 Coverage" column by the word "unrestricted" written in regular black font (green



circle). Three drugs in this Category Class are not covered on this drug list, so the result says "uncovered" in red font for those drugs (purple arrow).

If we look at the results for carrier 80473 (green arrow), we see that drugs which are covered, but with restrictions, are marked with the notation "PA", if the restriction is prior authorization, and "ST", if the restriction is step therapy (yellow circle). If a drug has both prior authorization and step therapy requirements, both notations will appear. Restrictions appear in bold, red font.

If a drug has a step therapy requirement, it will say "ST" in bold red font. If a drug has both prior authorization and step therapy requirements, it will have both notations in the result in the List X Coverage column. (See purple circle in screen shot above.)

We saw on the Formulary Outlier Summary tab that, for the Category Class Antvirals; Anti-HIV Agents, Integrase Inhibitors (INSTI)", the Applied Threshold is 2. That means that this drug list must include 2 drugs in this Category Class covered without restrictions. Since it currently has no covered drugs in this Category Class, the carrier will need to resolve this outlier by adding 2 covered drugs in this Category Class, both covered without restrictions. Alternatively, the carrier may need to provide OIC with an acceptable justification why this result is not discriminatory against people whose health status requires treatment with these drugs. This path to correction is pretty obvious. However, remember that the <u>Plan Details tab</u> also includes a "Deficiency Message" for each "Not Met" result which tells the carrier how it might correct the outlier.

All RxCUIs Submitted and Errors tabs

These tabs work the same as described with regard to the <u>Clinical Appropriateness Tool</u>.

Justifications

As discussed with respect to the Drug Count Tool, HHS uses a list of FDA-approved and available drugs called the HHS Essential Health Benefits Rx Crosswalk (Rx Crosswalk). This is the list of drugs against which carriers' Drug Lists are measured. The Rx Crosswalk must be finalized at some point in order to be programmed into the Electronic Review Tools, but drugs go off and come on the market with great frequency. Thus, the Rx Crosswalk as used in the Tools cannot be current and complete, because it is static. In addition, carriers structure their coverage of prescription drugs differently. Other features of a plan's design may make what appears to a Tool to be an outlier a nondiscriminatory element of coverage.

Carriers can therefore submit justifications to show that their Drug Lists do meet the applicable benchmarks and thresholds, despite the results of the Electronic Review Tools. There are forms designed for this purpose. Carriers can complete and attach as many Justification Forms as necessary on the Form Schedule tab in their binders, along with the Electronic Review Tool results.



There are only a few different types of justifications, and each justification must be evaluated on its own. However, there are some general rules about what types of justification OIC can accept, and what types we cannot accept.

Unacceptable Justifications

Clinically-based disagreements

OIC Health Forms Compliance Analysts are not clinicians. We are not qualified to evaluate clinically-based justifications. We rely upon the clinical expertise of the clinicians at HHS whose expertise is programmed into the Electronic Review Tools. Clinicians on behalf of carriers may disagree with those HHS experts, but OIC cannot judge those disagreements.

As a result, clinical disagreements with the clinical assumptions underlying the Tools' methodology are not acceptable justifications for failing results on one of the Electronic Drug Tools. Although a carrier may disagree that such is clinically justified, it must meet the requirements built into the tools.

For example, in the discussion of the Clinical Appropriateness Tool, above, we saw a carrier that failed to meet the threshold for coverage of long-acting insulin analogs for diabetes. The carrier's justification was as follows:

Data currently available do not support using insulin analogs over human insulin. Insulin analogs are second-line alternatives to NPH isophane and regular human insulin. Formulary includes Humulin N, Humulin R and Humulin 70/30 with no PA/ST restrictions.

This is a clinical argument about whether such drugs are clinically appropriate to be used as first-line treatment of diabetes. The clinicians at HHS whose expertise is programmed into the test clearly disagree. They determined that, in order for a formulary not to discriminate against diabetics, it must cover at least 1 long acting insulin analog. OIC must rely upon those clinicians' expertise, and will therefore stand by the requirement. This carrier must cover at least 1 long acting insulin analog without restrictions.

Another clinical Justification reads:

Of the additional entities available in the Antidepressants/Tricyclics category and class (Category Class ID 29: amoxapine, clomipramine, imipramine, trimipramine), none have shown any clinically significant advantage over other tricyclic antidepressants already on the formulary without restriction.

We respectfully request to maintain prior authorization requirements that currently exist on these 4 additional entities.



OIC cannot make judgments about the clinical advantage of one drug over another drug in a class. Again, OIC relies upon the clinical expertise built into the tools, and would require this carrier to remove restrictions so as to meet the threshold in this Category Class.

A drug is not on the formulary because it is a medical service drug

As defined above, a medical service drug is one that must be administered to the patient in a clinical setting. For example, many chemotherapy drugs are given intravenously over a period of minutes or hours, and must be administered in a clinical setting for several reasons. Short-acting anesthesia agents used during procedures, because they require close monitoring of the patient, are another example. There are a host of medical service drugs.

Both HHS and OIC now require that issuers include all covered drugs on their drug lists. This includes drugs with no RxCUIs, drugs that do not apply to any Category Class, and "medical service" drugs. The CMS 2020 QHP Application Instructions state:

The drug list should include all drugs on the issuer's formulary, even if they do not fall in one of the categories and classes identified in the summary of EHB benchmark information, available at

https://www.qhpcertification.cms.gov/s/Prescription%20Drugs. **This includes all drugs deemed by the user as "medical service drugs."**

CMS 2020 QHP Application Instructions, Version 1, Pg. 51 (emphasis added).

As a result, OIC does not accept this justification. A carrier who submits this justification must revise its Rx Drug Template Drug List tab to include all medical service drugs, so that these drugs can be counted toward the benchmarks and thresholds. The carrier should then re-run the Tool(s) using the new Rx Drug Template. If failure to include a medical service drug was the cause of an error on one of the Tools, this change will resolve the error.

Acceptable Justifications

Background

Remember how HHS defined a formulary being "substantially equal" to the benchmark plan's formulary? A plan does not have to cover the same drugs as the benchmark plan, it can cover different drugs in the same Category Class, as long as it covers as many, or more, of them. So the Drug Count Tool needs to have a list of all possible drugs in each Category Class. It does. Actually, it has two.

HHS Essential Health Benefits Rx Crosswalk

The first list is called the HHS Essential Health Benefits Rx Crosswalk ("Rx Crosswalk"). It is basically a list of all FDA-approved drugs by RxCUI (see below for a definition of RxCUI). You can download the Crosswalk by clicking on the "EHB Rx Crosswalk" link on <u>this page</u>, or by going to <u>www.QHPCertification.cms.gov</u>. At the bottom of this page, under "Resources", is a link to "Review Tools." A link to the EHB Rx Crosswalk is located about halfway down the page,



under "Drug Count Tool." Each year, the RX Crosswalk includes drugs approved as of a particular date. For example, the Rx Crosswalk for Plan Year 2020 includes RxCUIs for all FDA-approved drugs as of October 1, 2018.

RxNorm

The second list is a database called RxNorm, which is a list of all valid RxCUIs. It is updated more than annually. For Plan Year 2020, CCIIO requires issuers to use the October 1, 2018 full month RxNorm list (apparently because that was when they finalized the Rx Crosswalk for Plan Year 2020).

The dates of these two lists are going to become important to know when we talk about justifications, below.

What's an RxCUI?

An RxCUI a unique number assigned to a particular dosage and administration route of a drug. (CUI stands for Concept Unique Identifier.) For example, the antibiotic Clindamycin has many RxCUIs. The 150 Mg. oral capsule of Clindamycin is RxCUI 197518. The 300 mg. oral capsule is RxCUI 284215. The 10 Mg/MI topical lotion is RxCUI 197519. The 12 mg./50 ml. intravenous injection is RxCUI 309335.

So you can see that RxCUIs are pretty specific. They are way more specific than Category Class IDs, which refer to a whole group of similar drugs, and they are even more specific than just the name of the drug. They're the name + the dosage + the route of administration of the drug. (Oral capsule, topical lotion, and IV solution are all routes of administration.)

Unfortunately, because there are so many thousands of drugs (just look at a Drug List tab on the RX template), and their status changes so frequently, the Rx Crosswalk list simply cannot be kept current and complete. At some point, the Drug Count Tool programmers have to upload a version of the Rx Crosswalk, so the Drug Count Tool has something to count against. But, by definition, that list is static and so does not reflect the changes that occur after it is uploaded. Therefore, carriers may submit justifications for situations when a drug list actually does meet a Category Class, but the Tool doesn't recognize a new drug or version of a drug that came out too late to be on the Rx Crosswalk (for Plan Year 2020, after October 1, 2018). In fact, probably the majority of justifications are the result of deficiencies in the Rx Crosswalk.

A generic version of a drug has become available since October 1, 2018

That gets us to this acceptable justification. Generic forms of many drugs will have come on the market since the current Rx Crosswalk was finalized in October, 2018. None of these newer generic drugs, of course, are on the current Rx Crosswalk. Generic drugs have different RxCUIs than their brand-name counterparts.

So imagine that a carrier submits a Drug List that includes a new generic drug that came on the market in January of 2019. This new generic satisfies one of the Category Classes, so the plan



actually covers a sufficient number of drugs in that Category Class. However, the tool does not recognize this drug's RxCUI, so it does not count the drug towards that Category Class. The carrier includes a justification in its binder explaining that, and OIC accepts it.

This is a classic example of a justification that is acceptable because it is not based upon clinical judgment and can be confirmed.

Here's an old, but still illustrative, example of how this might look. Let's say carrier 18699 submits Drug Count Tool results that show it covers only 5 drugs in the Category Class, "Genitourinary agents; antispasmodics, urinary". The benchmark is 7 drugs in this Category Class. The carrier submits the following justification using the Washington State Justification Form for this Tool:

Formulary – Category & Class Drug Count Review Tool

Supporting Documentation and Justification

Formulary for Click here to enter text. quarter, 20Click here to enter text.

Issuer: Click here to enter text.

<u>Instructions</u>: Each prescription drug must be listed on a separate row. You may add additional rows to the table below as needed. Note: Justification forms must be converted to a PDF format prior to uploading in SERFF. DO NOT upload the WORD version.

Drug List ID(s)	Category	Class	Benchmark count	Covered Count	Justification*	RxCUIs (if applicable)
2	Genitourinary	Antispasmodics	7	5	We cover 2 additional drugs	485421
	Agents	, Urinary			which were approved after April,	485423
					2018	

*<u>Justification – see below</u>:

Indicate the appropriate letter in the Justification Column or describe an "other" justification.

A: There are no longer sufficient drugs in this Category/Class available to meet the benchmark. The formulary includes all drugs that are available in this Category/Class. The HHS EHB Rx Crosswalk (Rx Crosswalk) lists all drugs available at the time of its finalization. If the Rx Crosswalk includes sufficient drugs to meet the benchmark, please provide documentation that one or more of those drugs has become unavailable since the current Rx Crosswalk was finalized.

B: The formulary covers drugs in this Category/Class which have become available since the date the current EHB Prescription Drug Crosswalk was published. Please list the RxCUIs of these covered drugs.

Page 1 of 2 Version 1 (04/2018)



C: Other: Please explain why the list of drugs covered provides the Prescription Drug EHB despite covering fewer drugs in the Category/Class than the benchmark.

Please Note: OIC cannot accept clinically-based justifications, such as opinions regarding the efficacy of particular drugs on the EHB Rx Crosswalk.



OIC can accept this justification if the Analyst can confirm that these two additional drugs are covered. Here's what they do:

Using the RxCUIs provided in the Justification Form, the OIC Analyst goes to the All RxCUIs Submitted tab and does a "find" for these RxCUIs. The OIC Analyst finds these RxCUIs and, from that, can sort the list by chemically distinct drug. They see this:

1											
- A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	J	K	L
3	RxCUI	Retired?	Reassign ed RxCU 🖵	Crosswalk Status ▼	EHB-Rx Classification	Chemically Distinct Drug ID	Chemically Distinct Drug	Category & Class Impacted	Impact Category Class Revie 🚽	18699 Drug Lists	Drug List 1
2455	485421	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	223	darifenacin	N/A	No		Covered
2456	485423	N/A	N/A	RxNorm Database	N/A	223	darifenacin	N/A	No		Covered
2457	543021	No	N/A	EHB Rx Crosswalk	N/A	223	darifenacin	119	Yes		Not Covered
2458	543027	No	N/A	EHB Rx Crosswalk	N/A	223	darifenacin	119	Yes		Not Covered

The All RxCUIs Submitted tab shows that RxCUIs 485421 and 485423 are covered. Now the Analyst needs to make sure that these drugs have the same dosage/route of administration combinations as the RxCUIs that satisfy Category Class 119. If they do, then OIC can accept the carrier's justification.

The screen shot above shows that the drug we're working with is called darifenacin. Notice that there are four dosage / route of administration versions of darifenacin on this list, but two of them are not covered (highlighting). We can see that they're RxCUIs 543021 and 543027. The carrier's Justification Form said that there are new generics of the same things that are covered.

We can see that RxCUIs 485421 and 485423 are both darifenacin (the correct drug). So far so good.

We Google the two, covered, RxCUIs. We see that RxCUI 485421 is darifenacin in a 15 mg Extended Release oral tablet. That means that it can legitimately be substituted for RxCUI 543021, which is the same thing. We also see that RxCUI 485423 is the 7.5 mg extended release oral tablet of darifenacin, which is the same as RxCUI 543027. Bingo. The justification checks out and the carrier has met the benchmark in this Category Class.

ProTip: Any time you see the extended release version of a drug excluded, one thing that should come to mind is the carrier may cover the regular version, but not the extended release form of the drug. This is common. But if a carrier cannot meet the benchmark without covering the extended release form of a drug, the carrier must cover it.



Drugs in this Category and Class Are No Longer Available

This justification could be necessary because the drugs have been discontinued by the manufacturer, have been deemed unsafe by the FDA, or have been removed from market by the manufacturer due to safety concerns.

If it is no longer possible to meet the benchmark, the tool as released for that Plan Year will likely already have flagged that issue. (See <u>discussion of "Benchmark Reevaluation"</u> column in the Drug Count Tool.)

The Drug Count Tool's Category Class Details tab identifies every chemically distinct drug and the Category Class in which it can be counted toward the benchmark. The All RxCUIs Submitted tab gives more detailed information on each drug on the carrier's Drug List(s) and the Category Classes into which a particular RxCUI falls. If the number of drugs available on the market is insufficient to meet a Category Class for a particular Plan Year as of the time the Rx Crosswalk is finalized, review of these two tabs will identify that problem.

If such a problem has been identified, this justification is acceptable.

If a carrier needs to submit a justification that it cannot meet the benchmark in a Category Class due to unavailability of enough drugs, and this unavailability has not been identified using the information in the Drug Count Tool, OIC will need more information. Such a justification means the carrier is saying that the drug has become unavailable since the time the Rx Crosswalk was finalized for that Plan Year.

In order to evaluate whether this justification can be accepted, the OIC Analyst will review the Category Class Details and All RXCUIs submitted tabs of the carrier's Drug Count Tool results, to establish that there is not another drug that can be covered to meet the benchmark. If there is, then the carrier must cover that other drug.

If there is no other drug that can be covered to meet the benchmark, OIC will need confirmation that the drug has become unavailable, especially if other carriers have not submitted this same justification. If the carrier has not included with the justification some documentation that the drug has become unavailable, OIC will request it via an Objection. OIC will evaluate the documentation to ensure that it supports the carrier's justification.